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Characteristics of The Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM"”) of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a high investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM

mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high
market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the

“directors”),

“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of smartcard,
radio frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution
and professional services in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard solutions
and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region
("Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With profound
expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability, proven
track record and excellent reputation, the group has established a leading
profile in our industry and has adopted a proactive approach to introduce
innovative and customized smartcard, RFID and biometrics applications
to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience and
intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products and
multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to more overseas countries.

Appreciation
I ' would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 June 2018
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ographical Details of Directors & Senior Management
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Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 54, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the group. With over
31 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government. He is the industrial advisors to the Engineering Departments
of The City University of Hong Kong and The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 55, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 34 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 49, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of
Science degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an
associate member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Biographical Details of Directors & Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, CBt, BS, FHKIE, JP, aged 78, holds an honorary
doctoral degree in engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and an honorary doctoral in laws from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He was formerly a member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council
from 1978 to 1997 and a senior member of the Hong Kong Legislative
Council from 1988 to 1991. Dr. Lee was also a member of the Hong Kong
Executive Council from 1985 to 1992.

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 52, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant/
Chartered Accountant qualified in the People’s Republic of China, the
United Kingdom and Hong Kong. Mr. Kam has over 29 years’ experience
in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private and public

companies.

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, 0.8.E. (Hon), P, aged 74, holds a Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) degree in literature from The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Public Administration degree from the Syracuse University,
USA. He was formerly a member of the Legislative Council from 1985 to
2004 and was also the President of the Legislative Council from 1995 to
1997. Mr. Wong had been lecturing at the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1970 and is now retired.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

During the year, our solution and professional services arm, ITE Smartcard
Solutions Limited (“ITES”), has been awarded with a number of new
contracts and orders by both new and old clients. The orders covered the
supply of hardware and software and the provision of professional services
to build up or enhance their application platforms.

ITES received a new contract from the Hospital Authority of HKSAR for
the provision of the hardware of self-service payment kiosk for all public
hospitals and clinics managed by the Hospital Authority. Under the scope
of works, ITES shall provide more than 150 sets of optical character reader
for Hong Kong identity card, the kiosk design and fabrication services
together with maintenance throughout the contract period. We are very
pleased to provide our products and services to serve the client and the
public.

It has been a busy year. The delivery for the provision of design,
implementation, and system support and maintenance for new self-service
kiosks for the electronic passport system to the Immigration Department
(“ImmD") was completed. All self services kiosks are now available for
public use at the ImmD Headquarters and six immigration branches. The
kiosks, which have been designed and built to support highly automated
workflow, are effectively enhancing the public service. We also completed
the delivery of an Octopus based automated fare collection system for
the Sai Kung Swimming Pool of Leisure and Cultural Services Department
(“LCSD"). The project was completed within a very short time period to
meet the summer swimming season. We also launched for the LCSD the
city's first 24-hours self-service library station in December 2017, offering
users round-the-clock public library services with enhanced convenience
and accessibility. We successfully completed the field trial of New Parking
Meter System Trial Scheme of the Transport Department, the trial validated
more than 200,000 epayment transactions through wireless connectivity

in nine months.
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Our R&D arm, RF Tech Limited, has been adding new hardware and
software libraries to our product family. Our continual efforts in innovation
and R&D have resulted in the launch of a new product family for
Internet-of-Things (“loT”) and smartcity applications. Our HOMAC GSM10
is an loT-enabled smart parking sensor that supports most sensitive
real-time magnetic impedance data acquisition of vehicle, when working
with our intelli-VRMS vehicle recognition algorithms, it can accurately
analyze the presence or absence of a car in a parking space through
wireless connectivity. We also launched a new product line of intelli-IEMS
intelligent energy management system for sustainability applications.

Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the long
term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology and
Excellency;, three words which bestly explain ITE.

All members of the company performed professionally under the
corporate vision, mission and core value. Every year, new intellectual assets
are created, accumulated and protected, and the range of professional
services continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the
changing market. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure
rider to provide innovative solutions to our clients.

With improving efficiency and effectiveness, new product development
and professional services enhancement, the directors are optimistic that
our sustainability and profitability will continue to improve.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$25 million, representing an increase of 14% over last
year. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the company for the year
ended 31 March 2018 was approximately HK$1.3 million as compared to
that of approximately HK$0.4 million for last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Segmental Information

During the year, the group recorded an increase in turnover for about
14% when compared with last year and the group’s gross profit margin
remained stable at 42%.

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of
the smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services
and related sales, was HK$14,207,046 (2017: HK$10,617,106) which
increased by 34%. However, the income from maintenance services
decreased by 3% to HK$11,228,885 (2017: HK$11,580,006).

The group’s administrative expenses increased slightly by 2% to
HK$9,649,742 (2017: HK$9,418,936). Included in administrative expenses,
the related share-based payment expense amounted to HK$347,847
(2017: HK$692,153) was fully recognized during the year. In addition, the
research and development cost and associated sponsorship was significant
increased by 43% to HK$1,112,366 (2017: HK$777,764). Expenditure on
research and development activities was totally expensed in profit or loss
during the year.

During the year, the group maintained a healthy liquidity position and
therefore the finance costs was HK$Nil (2017: HK$Nil).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows. At 31 March 2018, the group did not have any outstanding
borrowings. At 31 March 2018, the current ratio of the group was 3.11
(2017: 3.24) while the liquidity ratio was 2.93 (2017: 3.01).

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also reviewed
regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,
development requirements and investments in the future.
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Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2018, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was Nil (2017: Nil).

Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Significant Investments
The group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference
to individual performance and the group’s business performance.

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and Hong
Kong including contributions to the Social Security Scheme in the PRC and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong. Besides, the group
also provides on-going training programmes for its employees to keep
them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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At 31 March 2018, the group had 48 (2017: 50) full-time employees,
of which 46 (2017: 46) are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in
the PRC and Macao. Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was
approximately HK$13 million (2017: HK$13 million) for the year ended 31
March 2018.

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2018, HK$2,000,274 time deposit (2017: HK$2,000,274)
was pledged to a bank to secure certain banking facilities of a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the company.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition
of material capital assets as at 31 March 2018.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Japanese Yen (“JPY"),
Macao Patacas (“MOP”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The exchange rates
between HK$, US$, JPY, MOP and RMB have been very steady for the past
few years. During the year, the group generally used the receipts from
customers to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are
denominated in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries
operate. The group does not currently engage in hedging to manage
possible exchange rate risk as the group considers the cost associated
with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits. However,
management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange
rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2018, the company did not have any contingent liability.
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Corporate Governance Report

The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The board ensures that effective self-requlatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the company.

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
“Code")
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the

on the Growth Enterprises Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March
2018, save for the deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the company. As such, the company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of the code provision A.4.1 of the
Code.
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The company has not arranged any insurance coverage for the directors’
liabilities in respect of any potential legal actions against the directors.
Given the nature of the company’s business, directors believe that the
occurring of legal actions against the directors is very slight, and the
company still can achieve excellent corporate government through various
management and monitoring mechanism so as to reduce such risks, such
as periodic review on the effectiveness of internal control system, clear
division of duties and providing training for staffs and the management.
The board will review, on a regular basis, the necessity to arrange
insurance cover for potential legal actions against the directors.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2018. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2018.

Board of Directors

The board which currently comprises three executive directors and
three independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

The independent non-executive directors, Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen and Mr.
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, have been serving the board as independent
non-executive directors for more than nine years and have consistently
demonstrated their willingness to exercise independent judgments
and provide objective challenges to management. They have actively
participated in board meetings and board committee meetings held
during the year and have shown themselves able to give constructive and
independent advice to the board over significant issues. Therefore, the
board considers that both of them remain independent, notwithstanding
the length of their tenure as independent non-executive directors.
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All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group’s
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors

will be arranged wherever necessary.
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the "audit committee”), the remuneration committee (the “remuneration
committee”) and the nomination committee (the “nomination
committee”) with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the company’s affairs. Each of the committees of the company has been

established with written terms of reference.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
present their views to the chairman prior to the meeting.

During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.
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Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
directors together with necessary board papers and related materials
at least three days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add
any items on the agenda as they may think fit. For all other board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other
schedules and the relevant information of each board and committee
meeting are generally made available to directors or committee members
at least three days in advance.

The company secretary is responsible for recording the matters considered
and decisions reached by the board including any concerns or dissenting
views raised by directors. Minutes of board meetings and the board
committees meetings will be sent to all directors for their comments and
records as soon as after the board meeting. Such minutes are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection within reasonable advance
notice.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors
if necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service
of the company secretary, who is responsible for providing directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures

used in board meetings for committee meetings.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

B EBRBITREY
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
meeting Committee Committee Committee
Name of directors EElA EEgY BEREEE FHEES REZEE
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BIE St 4/4 N/A 11 11
TiE A
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BB e A 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
EA AN TEA
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2EELE 2/4 N/A N/A N/A
TEA i TEA
Independent non-executive directors MFEHTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FERiE L 3/4 3/4 0/1 11
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RE LA 4/4 4/4 11 1/1
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRESE 3/4 3/4 11 11

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions
and strategies.

The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the group’s operation.
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Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive directors,
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (being the chairman of the audit committee), Mr.
Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports
and to provide advices and comments thereon to the board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and to
discuss auditing, financial reporting matters, internal control and also
risk management system. The principal terms of reference includes, inter
alia, its relationship with the company’s external auditor, review of the
company’s financial information and oversight of the financial reporting
system and internal control procedures of the company.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, four audit committee meetings
were held. The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018 have been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures
had been made.

Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of
the remuneration committee include the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management
of the company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the board of the remuneration of non-executive directors. Members
of the remuneration committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam
Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon
Kwong, Vincent, with Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman. A majority of
the votes in the remuneration committee are exercisable by independent
non-executive directors. No director will be involved in any discussion in

connection with his own remuneration.
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The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees of
the independent non-executive directors.

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of the nomination
committee include Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Dr.
Lee Peng Fei, Allen as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the

nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship.

During the year, one nomination committee meeting was held. Issues
concerning the structure, size and composition of the board were
discussed. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that
all the existing directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
company. Further, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi Wah will retire
from the board in accordance with Article 108 of the company’s articles
of association at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.

The statements of external auditor of the company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 41
to 46 of this annual report.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of
the group’s risk management and internal control system. To facilities the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations and to ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, the group emphasizes on the importance of
a sound internal control system which is also indispensable for mitigating
the group’s risk exposures. A sound and effective internal control
system is designed for (i) safeguarding the interests of shareholders; (ii)
safeguarding assets of the group against misappropriation; (iii) ensuring
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information; and (iv) ensuring compliance with the relevant
laws, regulations, and internal policies. Such system of internal control
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and fulfilment of the business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the internal control policies and procedures to assess its effectiveness
and shall make recommendations to the board if any significant areas of
concern are identified.

During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
staff

qualifications and experience, training programmes, and budget of the

functions and has considered the adequacy of resources,

group’s accounting and financial reporting function. The board is satisfied
that, the present system of internal control is effective. The group does
not have an internal audit function and does not see the need to have one.

The group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The board has the overall
responsibility to maintain the adequacies of resources, staff qualifications
and experience training programs and budget of accounting and
financial reporting function and the board concluded that the group’s risk
management and internal control systems were in place and effective.
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With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the
group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the
aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality requirement
and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.

Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the board and board committees
by ensuring good information flow within the board and that board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is a full
time employee of the company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
company'’s affairs. The company secretary is appointed by the board and
reports to the chairman and directors of the company. The company
secretary also plays an essential role in the relationship between the
company and its shareholders, and assist the board in discharging its
obligations to shareholders pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to
update her skills and knowledge during the year.

External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit
process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$372,500 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$30,500.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law
(2012 Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article
64 of the Articles of Association of the company, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the board or the secretary of the company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
Articles of Association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.
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Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there is no change in the company’s constitutional
documents.
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Our Vision

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report is prepared
by the group with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. It discloses major policies and management measures for
the environmental, social and governance matters relating to the provision
of smartcard, RFID, biometrics product and solution and professional
services of the group during the year ended 31 March 2018.

In order to define what are relevant and material to our business in
relation to sustainability, the key is to understand what issues our
stakeholders are most concerned with. We define our stakeholders as
people who affect our business or who are affected by our business. Our
stakeholders include the shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers
and community. In our daily business, we actively exchange information
with our stakeholders through our transparent platform while we are
devoted to continuous improvement of our communication system.
We are committed in maintaining a long-term partnership with our
stakeholders and are actively engaged in addressing their concerns with
follow-up actions.

A ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND RESOURCES
MANAGEMENT MEASURES

Corporate Environmental Policy

In accordance with our environmental vision, we are committed
to upholding high environmental standards to fulfil relevant
requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during the
operation of the business. Being a provider of smartcard, RFID,
biometrics product and solution and professional services, we
bear low impact on carbon emission and the environment.
Nevertheless, the group continues to actively manage our
environmental footprint via implementing several environmental

protection measures in the office and workplace.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ITE is one of the first 64 listed companies signing the Carbon
Footprint Repository for listed companies in Hong Kong in 2014.
These listed companies come from different sectors, including
property and construction, consumer services, financials, consumer
goods, industrials, utilities, information technology, materials
and telecommunications sectors. We have disclosed the carbon
footprint information and shared the successful experiences in
carbon management and practices through the Carbon Footprint’s
dedicated website. ITE has pioneered the initiative and played
an important role in transforming Hong Kong into a green and
low-carbon economy since 2014.

Non-Hazardous Waste Management

The group is committed as ever to conserving precious
resources by taking eco-friendly measures to reduce disposal of
non-hazardous waste throughout our operation.

We acknowledge the fact that waste electrical and electronic
equipment are the fastest growing waste sector in the world. To
alleviate the problem, we aim to increase the lifespan of each
computer by upgrading the hardware or software. At the same
time, we promote the concept of replacing the particular depleted
computer components instead of the whole computer. Reducing
the replenishment rate of the computer components is not our
only mission, we also send all depleted computer components to
the licensed recycling collectors to lessen the environmental impact
associated with electronic manufacturing from raw materials, as
well as to reduce hazardous and toxic substances handled during
disposal.

The group continuously monitors and reviews the effectiveness
and performance of our appliances, replacing any out-date or
inefficient systems with up-to-date energy saving technology.
We have encouraged paperless solution such as electronic
document storage, material sharing and reduced administrative
documentation. When using paper, employees are encouraged to
use double-sided paper, black and white or recycled papers when
printing or photocopying documents. It considerably improves
operational efficiency while helping create a paperless operation
system.
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Energy Efficiency Management, Energy Use and
Emissions

Electricity consumption is the major contribution to our
greenhouse gas emission and energy footprints. The group adopts
a number of energy-saving initiatives and efficiency practices to
enhance the awareness for greenhouse gas emission reduction
and energy saving, including:

- installing LED lighting and air-conditioning system with

“Grade 1" energy label;

- encouraging the employees to turn off the computers and

IT devices when not in use;

- setting office machines such as copiers and display
monitors to turn off automatically after office hour;

- maintaining an indoor temperature at an optimal level for

comfort;

- putting up signage emphasizing the importance of energy

saving; and

- encouraging employees to make the best use of the
telephone/video conference facilities so as to avoid

unnecessary travel arrangement.

We are also committed to using all resources including water
efficiently and conservatively. Notwithstanding our office uses
public tap water shared by the building, we are still endeavoring
to change employees’ mindset to gear towards environmental
protection.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Environmental Performance

Our environment performance data during the year is indicated
in the table below. We will continue to track our resources
consumption and emissions, as this helps us to monitor and
analyze our environmental footprints, and thus enables us to
formulate corresponding company policies and management
procedures to meet the demand of business operation, while
constantly improve our environmental performance in the future.

Energy Use and

Emission Unit per year 2018 2017
Electricity consumption kWh 71,215 72,750
Greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes of COe 38.47 39.29

Energy consumption intensity  kWh per employee 1,207.0 1,276.3
Paper used Ream 147 132

Paper used intensity Ream per employee 3.06 2.64
Aviation travel Kilometer 16,621 10,788
Greenhouse gas emissions Tonnes of COe 1.51 0.98

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Charity and Social Responsibility

ITE is one of the sponsors for The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University Students’ Union Chinese Orchestra (“HKPUSUCQO").
HKPUSUCO was established in 1973 for more than 40 years and
is one of the oldest and largest Chinese music groups in Hong
Kong’s tertiary institutions. They are now about 70 members.
HKPUSUCO adheres to the promotion of Chinese Music as well as
the purpose of the popularization of it. The HKPUSUCO provides
the Chinese musical instruments training, engagement of Chinese
music performances and the opportunities for public to appreciate
the performances. The Chinese Music concerts, ensembles and
exchange are held, and supported by music lovers each time. The
HKPUSUCO 35th Annual Performance “%& - JTILIEE" was held at
Sha Tin Town Hall Auditorium on Saturday night, 7 April 2018.
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Colleagues and friends of ITE continued to support social caring
activities. We participated in the “Charity Walk 2018 — Take a
Step, Save a Life!” of Suicide Prevention Services (“SPS”), their
annual featured event, was held in Tai Tam Country Park on
Saturday, 3 March 2018 and achieved the fund-raising target. All
donations will be used in SPS services for serving people of ages in
Hong Kong who are suicidal, in despair or emotionally distressed
by befriending them, and offering services to help them to regain
control of their emotions and find the will to carry on.

ITE has been participating in ORBIS Pin Campaign since 2006. Our
colleagues wore the Pins on 12 October, 2017 to embrace ORBIS's
mission in support of World Health Organization’s World Sight Day.
Established in 1982, ORBIS is working to eradicate preventable
blindness in impoverished nations worldwide. Long-term eye care
programs that increase local surgical skills, facilities and eye health
awareness have helped restore sight to over 6.8 million needlessly
blind people to date. ITE was also awarded the “Caring Company
Logo” by The Hong Kong Council of Social Welfare for more than
ten years.

We also welcome new interns joining the group. They come
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, The City University
of Hong Kong, The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Royal
Melbourne Institute of Technology and Vocational Training Council
with different engineering disciplines ranging from computing,
electronic, information, electrical and mechanical engineering.
ITE has been supporting internship program for university
undergraduates since 2006. We have assisted over 140 students
to gain solid experience and knowledge in their fields through
actual work responsibilities.

ITE has been collaborating with the key universities and institutes
in Hong Kong since our incorporation. Donations are also made
as encouragement to the universities in the pursuit of greater
excellence. In appreciation of our continual support, the City
University of Hong Kong Foundation welcomes ITE Smartcard
Solutions Limited and RF Tech Limited as the Principal Members of
the Foundation.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Employment and Labour Practices

In relation to the human resources, the group is committed to
complying with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status
and race discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinance relating to occupational
safety of employees of the group, so as to safeguard the interests
and well-being of our employees. For the third consecutive year,
we are very proud to receive the “2017/2018 Partner Employer
Award” by The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small and
Medium Business. The “Partner Employer Award” Recognition
Scheme was launched in 2010 to encourage local enterprises to
hire and provide internships to local students and graduates so
that they can accumulate work experience and develop a positive
attitude to enhance their competitiveness in the market.

The group is also committed to safeguarding the security of
personal data. When collecting and processing such data, the
group complies with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and
guidelines issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner
for Personal Data, with a view to protecting the privacy of our
employees and customers. The operation team of the group in the
PRC and Macao also comply with the related laws and regulations
in the PRC and Macao.

The group complies with the various anti-discrimination ordinances
in Hong Kong. We are committed to promoting diversity and
equality, all staff are treated with respect and dignity. At present,
the anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong Kong are:

* the Sex Discrimination Ordinance

* the Disability Discrimination Ordinance

* the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
* the Race Discrimination Ordinance

The group also reviews the corporate policy of employment and
labour regularly to ensure that the group has fully complied with
the located labour legislations and regulations. During the year,
the group did not come to any material non-compliance case that
constituted violation of employment’ related laws and regulations.
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Workforce 2018 2017

Number of employees

Permanent 48 50
Part-time 2
Intern

Workforce by gender
Female 12 10
Male 47 47

Workforce by age

20-29 31 29

30-39 13 13

40-49 6 6

50+ 9 9
By region

Hong Kong 57 55

Macao 2 2

Health and Safety

The group is in compliance with the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance, by ensuring that the employees are working in
a safe environment. The group has developed and adopted health
and safety policies, including prohibition of smoking in workplace,
abuse of alcohol and drugs, identification and prevention of risks
and hazards in working area, and follow-up actions for accidents
or personal injuries. Such policies are set out in our employee
handbook for our employees to comply with. We also update the
health and safety policies from time to time to ensure that the
policies are best fit to the group’s core businesses.

First aid kit and fire fighting equipment are provided and easily
identified in the premises for case of injuries and emergencies.

Fire protection system that best fits our needs for simplicity,
reliability and ease of maintenance is established. The group
appoints a registered fire service contractor to carry out the
annual works or the provision of or improvement on fire service
installations and equipment. Numbers of fire extinguishers for
water and carbon dioxide, fire sand and fire blanket, emergency
lighting and exit sign have been installed and tested by the fire
service contractor annually. The group conducts fire drills and use
of equipment every year.
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During the vyear, the group has achieved zero work-related
fatalities and lost days due to work injury.

Training and Job Rotation

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our sector continues
to increase, competition poses the risk of employee turnover.
We address this risk by providing our employees with training
opportunities and competitive benefits, creating loyalty while
cultivating their professional development.

Every new joiner will be provided proper orientation training
and mentoring in order to help them adapt to the new working
environment affirmatively and quickly. Continuous trainings
are also committed by the group in difference ways including
on-the-job training, comprehensive training for specific skill
development and professional training for relevant employees.
Each department is also responsible for setting and developing
their own training programmes not only to meet the specific
business requirements, but also to build up the on-going skills and
career development of our staff. Job rotation opportunity is given
to help advance personal development and facilitate employee
substitutions. Both management and employees work together to
determine which departments and positions are suitable for a job
rotation.

Quality Management System

We have implemented and maintained a quality management
system of high standards. It is our core value that we never
compromise on safety or quality and have dedicated ourselves to
a zero-harm and fault mind-set. Both our subsidiaries, ITES and ITE
Engineering Limited, successfully completed and passed the 1SO
9001:2008 Quality Assurance System audit carried out by British
Standard Institution. Both companies will be recommended by
BSI for the continual accreditation of ISO 9001:2008 Certificates
which were first accredited to ITE in 2002. We maintain the
quality by achieving ISO certification continuously to demonstrate
that we have ability to consistently provide services that meet our
customers’ needs and fulfill applicable statutory and regulatory

requirements.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The group acknowledges the importance of intellectual property
rights and the protection, so we have set out our policies and
principles towards patent and trademark registrations and
renewals.

In order to safeguard our intellectual property rights, a
confidentiality agreement must be signed with partners/vendors
before business engagement. Internally, we enter into employment
contracts with our employees which contain provisions on
intellectual property rights and confidentiality. Each employee
of the group has signed a written confirmation to (i) confirm
that all intellectual property rights created or made during their
employment with the group shall belong to us; and (i) agree
not to use or disclose the confidential information without
authorization of the group.

Anti-corruption

The group established a strong internal control to institute a
vigorous enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. A
strong anti-corruption and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the
overall governance framework of the group. We are committed
to mobilize resources to safeguard the assets and interests of our
shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict
contractual and tender requirements. We also maintain a list of
preferred suppliers so as to ensure the timely and efficient delivery
of the products and services we require.
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment Information

Details of the segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 10 of this annual
report.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s revenue and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:
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Percentage of the group’s total

hAEEEET AL
Revenue Purchases
g RIBHE
The largest customer KRB 12% -
Five largest customers in aggregate hAREP B 47% -
The largest supplier BAHER - 15%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AR ER B - 44%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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Dividend

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year. The directors
do not recommend the payment any dividend in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018 and 2017.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to
HK$8,500 (2017: HK$6,000).

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

The company

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew

In accordance with Article 108 of the company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi Wah will retire from the board by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible,

will offer themselves for re-election.
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The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to the date
of this report is as follows:

Mr. But Wui Fai

Ms. Lau Yuet Ping

Ms. Yeung Yee Ching

Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

At 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions
which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company and the Stock

Exchange were as follows:
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Interests in issued shares of the company: () EATNRHDER

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

BRO.01BTLBRRE
Percentage
Personal Corporate Family Other of total
Name of director interests interests interests interests Total  issued shares
HERTRH
EEME BAER NGIL: £ Rk HibiEz &% Bok
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 6,108,000 (L) 241,102,348 (L) - - 247,210,348 (L) 26.71%
2E St (Note 2) (Ffzt2)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 115,572,000 (L) - - - 115,572,000 (L) 12.49%
BRE 2 ST A
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) - - - 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%
N
Notes: BsE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1. [L] FRTRBRMD BIFAE ©
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited 2. AR D B — R B R 2 AF B A 3L Y A BJRax-

(“Rax-Comm”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share

capital of Rax-Comm.

Interests in equity derivatives (as defined in the (lI) RIFEBERZZHERDOT
SFO) in, or in respect of, underlying shares

As at 31 March 2018, the directors had the following personal
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the company granted
at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the company. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share.

= (B REBKRG)

AR A AR B -

Comm (BVI) Limited ([Rax-Comm ) FriEA - 2|
BN AR BRax-Comm 76.39% M B BT ©

£ T EMRE

RIZE-NF=ZA=+—RH ARFAEEFEREA
RE BB B A BT ER RN A REB AR
B BT A A TR EA R - SRBRE

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Number of

Number of shares acquired  Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at which options options during on exercise
Name of Director 31 March 2018  Date granted exercisable the year of options
RZZB-NF
=A=+-H R TEBRE
i RATGERY BREMAE BAXN
Esps BREHE RUEH BRETES HRHEE NERER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BEREE 900,000 () ZZE—AFFTZARH “Z—t+FRARAZE - 0.146/8 7T
—Z-_-F)\AtH
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BEELE 900,000 (1) ZZ—A~FTZARH “Z—+FRRAARE - 0.146/87T
T —%)\AtA
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BEELE 900,000 () Z=Z—R"E+ZARA “2—+EXALEZE - 0.1467 7T
“Z-—%)\AtH
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
FlRE L 900,000 () Z=FT—HF+LANA “ZRF-ANRZE - 0.154%8 7T
—Z-_-F)\AtH
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 () Z=ZE—RETZARE “Z—tFRXRAARE - 0.146/87T
T —%)\AtA
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
MEREE 900,000 () Z=Z—HFtANA —2-RE-ANEZE - 0.154% 7T
“Z-—%)\AtH
900,000 (L) ~ 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 (1) ZE—RFTZARH “2—+FARRE - 0.146}87T
—Z--F)\AtH
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EEEWE
Number of
Number of shares acquired  Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at which options options during on exercise
Name of Director 31 March 2018  Date granted exercisable the year of options
R=B-N%F
=A=t-H ERTRE TEBRE
i RATEERY BREMRE BAXA
EEpg BREYE REAH FB R BT HRGAEE NERER
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
BERERE 900,000 (1) =—ZE—RELANH ZE-RE-ANRE - 0.154/ 7T
—Z--F\AtA
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 (1) ZZ—RETZAKAE “Z—t¥RALAE - 0.146/8 7T
“Zo-%)\AtA
Note:  The letter “L"” denotes a long position in the shares. ek o (L] FRREH BIFE -

()  Aggregate interest in the shares and underlying (lll) Z2QFE5 RIGEERG AR
shares of the company

Aggregate

Aggregate number in Percentage

number in underlying of total

Name of Director ordinary shares shares Total issued shares

RN

EBRITRAE

EEpA EZEBRA R E G ast WAL

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 247,210,348 (L) 900,000 (L) 248,110,348 (L) 26.81%
BIES ek

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 115,572,000 (L) 900,000 (L) 116,472,000 (L) 12.58%
SPEI T ST

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah - 900,000 (L) 900,000 (L) 0.10%
ElllicE= i

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 3,560,000 (L) 0.38%
FERIE L+
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Aggregate

Aggregate number in Percentage

number in underlying of total

Name of Director ordinary shares shares Total issued shares

HAAF

2RITRE

BEEgS EZERAS R R S &t WEZL

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony - 1,800,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 0.19%
RIS

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew - 1,800,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 0.19%
\mRERE

Note:  The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares. fsE : TL] FRTROREE -
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the directors, B EiiFTIEIIN  R_T—N\F=A=+—H EF 17
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests — BUABE kil RV M B A L AR IR 3 BAI& BI85 15.7 ) 15.8

in the shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the
company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO,
including interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the
GEM Listing Rules, were required to be notified to the company and the
Stock Exchange.

Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any

such rights.
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Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

At 31 March 2018, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any
director or chief executive of the company:

Name of shareholder

S

HEERG TR AR BNER KR

RIZ-N\F=ZA=1T—H REEHEIEIB6KTEAT
%T?E’\J;'éaiﬂ%FﬁEX&E’MﬂﬂKAﬂ%%ﬁiﬁﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ '
THAL (RRABRESFHITHRARGIN) RAR BN R
HER O PR E Mk R

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares held  total issued shares

FEEER HERTRAY
BREREE RBEE WES
Rax-Comm (note 1) 241,102,348 26.05%
Rax-Comm (BfizE1)
Mr. George Roger Manho (note 2) 63,142,254 6.82%
EEExEAE (FisE2)
Notes: Bt
1. These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant 1. ZEROHER TEERITBBENKRG - BERND REFH
directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and BN ERRAR ] —REAERESN LR -
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.
2. Mr. George Roger Manho had retired by rotation as executive director of the 2. HEREERTE-—"FNANBNRRBEFAG L B

company at the annual general meeting held on 8 August 2016 in accordance

with the memorandum and articles of association of the company.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2018.

Share option scheme

Details of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 26 to

the consolidated financial statements.
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Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year, the company repurchased nil shares (2017: 1,848,000
shares HK$0.01 each) in the share capital of the company on the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the general mandates granted by the shareholders
at the annual general meetings of the company held on 8 August 2017.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the year.

Directors’ interests in contracts of significance

No contract of significance to which the company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a director of the company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

Permitted indemnity provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company’s subsidiaries (if made by the company).

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 110 of the annual report.
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Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in note
26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent

non-executive directors are independent.
Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018
have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. A resolution will be
submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company
to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the company.
There has been no change in the auditor of the company in the recent
three years.

By order of the board

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 12 June 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as, the “group”) set
out on pages 47 to 109, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the group as at 31 March
2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code"”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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AR EE S

Key audit matter
BREKRSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNNEERRETSEE

Revenue recognition on service contracts BRIEE WM ATER

consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures

Refer to notes 2(i) and 2(r) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies and refer to note 4 to the

F2RREHB/RRMT20R2(NWETBERFE M BHRRMFANFARE

Revenue and costs of smartcard systems, RFID and IT services contracts
are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of the reporting period.

The stage of completion requires the management to estimate the
total contract costs expected to be incurred in completing each of the
contracts undertaken by the group.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the group. It
is significant to the consolidated financial statements and requires
judgements in applying the percentage of completion method for

recognising revenue from related service contracts.

BRERFA - 51 5EE R R A AR aE R A DR B RS RN T TH
DA T HER ©

EREFEMEAEEARTEESNAAENERAAGHTEIADL

HRERESSMBHRERNEEUREFTEAENT T B D LI AR
RAERENRG A QW - BERDASEES —[ERERHKRRER

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

— Discussing with the responsible project leaders in
respect of the preparation of approved budgets and
the determination of stage of completion as at end of
the reporting period;

— Checking and testing, on a sampling basis, the
contract sum and budgeted costs to the signed service
contracts and approved budgets, and on a sampling
basis, checking to actual costs incurred, progress
billings to date and any provisions for any foreseeable
losses as at the end of the reporting period; and

— Evaluating and assessing management’s estimates
in their determination of, among other matters, the
percentage of completion of the service contracts,
actual costs incurred to date, estimated costs to
completion and provisions for loss making contracts.

We found the revenue recognised to be supported by the
available audit evidence.

EENBETEFERREARKAT

— HBEBAFANWAERS RN ERERETTIH
DEHRE

- WMERBREEZEZSRBAONGHEHE  BEREUR
WERE  TEMEREERRSMRNEREHAEK
A ITERNFAREM AR B ERE - &

— AEERIEREEREE (AT e REAHNNTT
BOL (BHEBAMERDSEERAE BT IRARS
KIERER) WY -

EERRNRCECENEXREERE -
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Key audit matter
BEREKSEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNTEERRETEE

Recoverability of trade and other receivables & 5 & H i FE iR #9 7T W 1 72 B

the consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures

Refer to notes 2(h) and 2(k)(i) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies and refer to note 17 to

FZHGEMBHEERMF2N)R2()ODHEABERGEHBERRMT17THFARE

The balances of trade and other receivables are significant to the
consolidated financial statements. Assessing to what extent trade
and other receivables are collectable involves a significant degree of

management judgement.

In determining whether impairment adjustments on trade and other
receivables are required, the group takes into consideration current
creditworthiness, past collection history, ageing status and their
likelihood of collection. Any deterioration of the financial condition
of customers of the group, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, means additional impairment adjustments may be
required.

BIRAMEBRIREHEGEVBREAMFBEXN - EXE S REME
Y 0 R Y [ A2 B0 % B I T B

BHREMBYIREARAERGIEHRER  BEESZRALHESE B
EWGRAR SR ~ IREATLIA K A YR B RO T BEIE © 5 AR E R P r 8 #551K
BRI EEMNREN TR - BEERBINUERE -

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

— Testing on a sampling basis, the accuracy of ageing
profiles of trade receivables by checking to the
underlying sales invoices and the basis of progress
billing by reference to contract terms;

— Reviewing management’ s assessment process and
judgements regarding recoverability of trade and other
receivables; and

— Assessing the reasonableness of such judgements by
taking into account the ageing analysis of receivables
at the end of the reporting period and the status
of subsequent settlement, as well as the recent

creditworthiness of the debtor.

We found estimations and judgements made by
management in respect of the collectability of receivables
were consistent with available evidence.
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Information Other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information in the annual report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the

“other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and, obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 12 June 2018

Choi Kwong Yu

Practising Certificate number P0O5071
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Consolioated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprenensive Income

=)

S MAMEEWam K

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F—\F=A=1+—BLLFE (ABTIIE

Note 2018 —Z—N\F 2017 ZZE—t4F
Bt HK$#& T HK$#E7T
Revenue Wz 4 25,435,931 22,348,653
Cost of services rendered B ARTE IR (14,634,854) (12,968,617)
Cost of sales EEEMHIKAR (200,464) (211,584)
Gross profit EF 10,600,613 9,168,452
Other income and other gains, net E A YA R oAt A 5 351,844 633,162
Administrative expenses 1T E B (9,649,742) (9,418,936)
Share of loss of an associate ity deNCIL: o) = 14 - (139)
Profit before taxation BRBE A2 F 6 1,302,715 382,539
Income tax credit FriSHtii e 7(a) 19,139 -
Profit for the year attributable to FREABEE AFRELEF
owners of the company 1,321,854 382,539
Other comprehensive expense FREMEZEZH
for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to Ef&A[gEEFHEZE
profit or loss: EmmIER ¢
— Exchange differences on translation of — BINETEHIRE R
foreign operations, net of nil tax EIR IR FE (105) (8,555)
Total comprehensive income FREZEBALLE
for the year 1,321,749 373,984
Earnings per share BRER 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (GBL) 0.14 0.04
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — FIFEEIMTEE RARRK L F4R & B ISHRKR A — 361D ©
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ARSI &

As at 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

NE=ZA=+—8 CAETIE)

Note 2018 —Z—\f 2017 ZF—+t4F
Bt s HK$& T HK$E T
Non-current assets EREEE
Property, plant and equipment M R MR 13 199,680 488,312
Interest in an associate iGN e 14 = =
Goodwill EES 15 - -
199,680 488,312
Current assets REBEE
Inventories PEN— 16 1,253,961 1,305,735
Trade and other receivables FEULE 5 2 H fih fE WUIR TR 17 8,938,457 8,591,586
Loans to an associate i l/NETN= /¢ 18 400,000 200,000
Financial assets at fair value through FERBERIRIEATEREERN 19
profit or loss CREE 2,092,214 1,675,370
Income tax recoverable AL B AT 1S 20 — 7,547
Pledged bank deposits EHEBRITIFR 21 2,000,274 2,000,274
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFED 21 6,855,316 4,520,335
21,540,222 18,300,847
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 K FoAth FE TR 7K 22 6,205,270 5,229,914
Provisions BEE 23 721,976 416,185
6,927,246 5,646,099
Net current assets REBEEFE 14,612,976 12,654,748
Net assets EEZFE 14,812,656 13,143,060
Capital and reserves ERRf#E 27
Share capital A& X 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves e 5,557,576 3,887,980
Total equity HRERS 14,812,656 13,143,060
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12 June ~ EBFEN -F—/\FXA+ - HRE RIXE T3
2018.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung SN ERE
Director Director £ £=5

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Change

es |
SeERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=F—N\F=A=+—BIFE (UETIIE)

Attributable to owners of the company

BRTEE AR
Share Share Merger Exchange  Share option  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
e RiEE affGE  MMENRE  BRERR ZitEi Y 3
HKSIE T HKSFE T HKSFE T HKSE T HKSA T HKSET  HKSET
Note (note 2700)()) ~ (note 27(0)(i)  (mote 27(o)(ii)  (note 27(b)(iv)
iz (Mt (Boskazol) — (RsEazoli) — (REk2n(o)ig)
At 1 April 2016 RZE-RERF-A 9,273,560 20,487,125 10,748910 378,126 1,029,300 (29574238 12,342,783
Changes in equity for the year: FRNEREE |
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - 382,539 382,539
Bxchange differences on translation of SN EHMAEEE (THEE)
foreign operations, net of nil tax - - - (8,555) - - (8,555)
Total comprehensive income EnZENASE
for the year - - - (8,555) - 382,539 373,984
Equity-setled share-based payments  RELENRHAERET 26(0) - - - - 692,153 - 692,153
Repurchase of shares mER 7)) (18,480) (247.380) - - - - (265,860)
At31March 2017 and 1 April 2017  R=E-t%£=F=+-H
R=Z-t§mA-A 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748.910 369,571 1,721,453 (29,191,699) 13,143,060
Changes in equity for the year: FRNERED |
Profit for the year ERETI - - - - - 1321854 1321854
Brchange differences on translation of M EHEAEEE (THEE)
foreign operations, net of nil tax - - - (105) - - (105)
Total comprehensive income EnrENNER
for the year - - - (105) - 132185 1,321,749
Equity-settled share-based payments  RIEEZ LR BERZ 26(0) = = = = 347,847 - M8
At 31 March 2018 R=E-NE=B=1+-H 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 369,466 2,069,300 (27,869,845) 14,812,656

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — MI#5EFI T AARRK L 4R & B 5 2 /) — 2619

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GeREERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=ZF—

NEZA=+—RILFE CAETIIE)

Note 2018 —Z—\f 2017 —ZE—+t%F
Bt s HKS$E T HK$E T
Operating activities REER
Profit before taxation B 5 BT i A1) 1,302,715 382,539
Adjustments for: M OIS IEEL AR
— Share of loss of an associate — JE(RE A RAEE = 139
— Fair value gain on financial assets at — FBBRRIEATE
fair value through profit or loss RENERMEER
NERE 5 (57,524) (144,570)
— Gain on disposal of financial assets at ~ — H&BEBIESRIZAF(E
fair value through profit or loss EEMNESRMEENKE 5 (26,557) (71,843)
— Interest income — F B UA 5 (4,929) (4,701)
— Equity-settled share-based payments — [RREAE ARG AR 6(a) 347,847 692,153
— Depreciation — e 6(b) 352,811 343,943
— Loss on disposal of property, plant —HEYE BEX
and equipment HER EE 6(b) 2,937 2,366
— Provisions — B 6(b) 795,821 522,604
— Reversal of unused provisions — RE)RE DR 6(b) (490,030) (588,512)
— Write-off of inventories — F &S 6(b) 216,605 8,963
Operating profit before changes in REEESBEATHNEERR
working capital 2,439,696 1,143,081
Increase in inventories FEEN (164,831) (192,002)
Increase in trade and other receivables FEU B 5 2 Eo b e LSRS08 (342,074) (2,407,064)
Increase in trade and other payables FEAT B 5 N2 Bt e~ R 3032 975,356 377,427
Cash generated from/ $BEL(FTH) BE
(used in) operations 2,908,147 (1,078,558)
Tax refunded, net BERFH OFE) 26,686 151,365
Net cash generated from/ REEREE
(used in) operating activities (FrH) B&EE 2,934,833 (927,193)
Investing activities REETE
Payment for purchase of property, SREEYE  WE R&E
plant and equipment (67,116) (709,817)
Capital contribution for investment B E N T E B RIGA
in an associate - (139)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets BiBBRIRE AT ERIER
at fair value through profit or loss SRVEE (i), R (332,763) 305,673
Interest received 2 Y F 8 132 4,701
Net cash used in investing activities RETHRARLSZE (399,747) (399,582)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
CEESRER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=Z—

NE=ZR=1—BIFE CABTIE)

Note 2018 —E—N\F 2017 —ZF—+%F
B E HK$ % T HK$#E T
Financing activities A& SEE
Repurchase of shares [0 B8 A% 17 27(a)ii) = (265,860)
Increase in pledged bank deposits, net BHEPRTFEFIG M CFE) - (104)
Loan to an associate i NN (200,000) -
Net cash used in financing activities  BEEEFfTARES FE (200,000) (265,964)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash REeRREEEY
and cash equivalents FBEEM OB 2,335,086 (1,592,739)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April AREUA—H B’giﬁ%};ﬁiﬁ,ﬁ%{g% 4,520,335 6,121,320
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — JMNESTE R EE) )57 (105) (8,246)
Cash and cash equivalents R=A=+t—HH
at 31 March HERBREZEEY 21 6,855,316 4,520,335
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated  Ff#&SEYFTsT A4EMK I F 42 & B TSIRR B — 615 -

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

\\/ \
For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(a)

52

2 MBS HRR Mot

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of
the principal place of business of the company and its operating
subsidiaries is Units C & D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478 Castle
Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The company’s shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM") operated by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “group”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 32.

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
group is set out below.
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(o)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except as otherwise
stated in the significant accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also
the functional currency of the company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 34.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the group and other parties) are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains

but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company on
the basis of dividend received or receivable.

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the group or company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for
any excess of the group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the group’s share of the associate’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see
note 2(k)(ii). Any acquisition-date excess over costs, the group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post tax results of the associate and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in profit or loss,
whereas the group’s share of post-acquisition post tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is included in the group’s
other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

2

(9)

(d)

BE_T)\F=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

FEFEBOR ()
MEAR (E)

M A BN IRE R A ESE R RR S AR
WK - AERIEHIERIERER - RERNE
VSRR 5 M EEENERRERERN - HE
B MBMRAD IR - £ELRRENS
AT EEARXSMEENRERER  SRE
RER W BRIE T A o

RRBIBFBIRARA - RHTE R B RERKA
AR EEESIR (REFE2(k)G)) o MR R H 3
BTy HA R RRE Wk IR B AR o

=R %a$%li€$ AHEREERTEN
MER - ﬁ%aT/,\i‘&’ﬁAETE’\JEﬁ%&
BIERE 15 IﬁH R A FZE EEIE -

;

Eﬁv%AT& N E ISR A RIEA R © RIE
% - NEERBNREV SRR AR - Hig
& EJL$;‘% FEAE B = R )R] ARl ) F B E N
EOMAFEEBLHRERAS (WE) FHHE - B
% REENRBRASEAGRE R BERER
BAH)F B E LR EERIE L FE (RMFE2k)II) °
AEBERENBBRTR XS (BREMKE
& H8 H KA R F IR B R B A R A DR E B
B) EGARERR  MAKEMEREREME
@Hﬁl/_\ﬂ’\]uﬁlﬁﬁfﬁmﬁzlﬁﬁ AR EEAEENGES
BN EM R EWER P EMEERAS o

ITE (Holdings) Limited



(d)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Associate (continued)

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the groups’ interest
in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Gooduwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (i) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for
impairment (see note 2(k)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in
the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z

"2 N\F=ZRA=+—HBLFE (RETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2 FEEFBUER (#)

(f)  Property, plant and equipment (f) W% BERRXE
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated ME - BB KRB ERK AR R E R EEER
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated FREMBIRRRSIR (RHTEE2(k)i0) °
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)(ii)).
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, M - WERRBEOTE - 1RZERARRM TR
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, BE (F) £t ERFRRNRERED T
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as H IZNAERFHOT
follows:
— Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms —HEMEEE VY& 3l FH & A Hf

and 4 years (ABFEE B%E)
— Furniture and fixtures 4 years —RRREE 4
— Computer and other 4 years — B R EAM G uifes
equipment

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual BEMAERFH - AETZRMGEER (0F)
value, if any, are reviewed annually. HEFELRE -
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item EES ;Jﬁﬁ%&%&ﬁ;&&@itﬂ%E’\J%Eﬁ)ﬂ‘atﬂ%fﬁ%
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference ﬁkiﬁ}%ﬁﬁ?@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ@?ﬁfﬂﬁ@{ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬁ  WRR
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the & EE AR B -
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

(@) Inventories (99 ®E&
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable 78 TR AN B R B3R FHE M & P B K & 510k
value.
Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and fﬂ?z’-‘ﬁﬁfﬁﬁf‘ﬁj\f‘ﬁuﬂﬂmﬁzﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ o BN BLIEFR
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other BRBEKA ﬁiﬁi@@?z’;‘&ﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁmﬁwﬁﬁ
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location RAGIFFREE A EAD A ©
and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary FIEBFME YA B WRBLERE P O (G5 & ER G
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the SERR A BETTHH B TR AU ETAAK o
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those EHEFER - EQ%T?EE@@@@HTJ@%?%%E@W
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which ﬁ?i?%ﬁﬁ@%%ﬁ@ﬁi 2 ﬁgﬁﬂg?ﬁfﬁfﬁf%@%@
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down BRI BEER R RE L EXEERR
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories FASZ ° Tﬂﬂ@@ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬂgﬁ'ﬂ%ﬁ?ﬁﬁ?%ﬁf’ﬁﬁﬁga
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down [o0 5 ) HA P B AR R B ST T B BCRE OB
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note
2(k)(i)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms or the effect
of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables
are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Service contracts

When the outcome of a service contract can be estimated reliably,
contract costs are recognised as an expense by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting
period. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately. When the outcome of a service contract
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as an

expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Service contracts in progress at the end of the reporting period
are recorded at the net amount of costs incurred plus recognised
profits less recognised losses and progress billings, and are
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the “Gross amount due from customers for service contract
work” (as an asset) or the “Gross amount due to customers
for service contract work” (as a liability), as when applicable.
Progress billings not yet paid by the customers are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under “Trade and
other receivables”. Amounts received before the related work is
performed are included in the consolidated statement of financial
position under “Trade and other payables”.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either
investments classified as held for trading or designated as at
fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are

recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—N\FE=A=1+—BILFE (AETIIE)

(k)

(i)

58

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets
Impairment of receivables

Receivables (including amounts due from related parties) that are
stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

If any event or change in circumstances indicates that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, an impairment loss is determined
and recognised as follows:

For trade and other receivables carried at cost or at amortised cost,
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect of discounting is
material. This assessment is made collectively where these financial
assets share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually assessed as impaired. Future
cash flows for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of
an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying amount
exceeding that which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets
directly, except for impairment losses recognised in respect of trade
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts are recorded
using an allowance account. When the group is satisfied that
recovery is remote, the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against trade receivables directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(k)  Impairment of assets (continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment;
- investment in an associate; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of assets (continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group or
the company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets

and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.

2

(D

BE_T)\F=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

FEFEBOR ()
Frig Bt ()

BELERIAEENIREE - SEHRE AR T AR -
W] BEFE A B e AR Bl s A 7T (8 A B R Tl IR
& T LABIRL © (£ a5 BRI D2 AT RE R R S FE AR T
A AT R IR R o

RERSDIRAEINAEH - NENERRENE
ERFERESER -

R B SR IR TR RS L E SR E DS
R AR TEE - WEARRRAEBEEET
ERARMNIBEEREASHIAEE  LAFE
AT M R RIIE ST - ARAD IR & B BR ST IR
BEMREDHEAAPHREAGBERELTHEAR R
o

- MARPRBEEERAE  ARRRAE
B SR FRERELEE  ARKERZE
ENMBEZAER %

- MARELEHRBREERAR  MEFEER
BERR-RBEERIATER —EHK
HIPTISIH AR

- F—ERVER =X

- TEWERTER - L FEREFI
FEHRRSEEGAARBRERES
BEREEENABRERIBEEA
A E e B A RO R R
BAHHBEEERSERAAREE
& ARSERZEEREELZE

(R

ITE (Holdings) Limited



(m)

(n)

(o)

(p)

(i)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=Z—

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(p)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the
guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred
income within trade and other payables. Where consideration
is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the
consideration is recognised in accordance with the group’s policies
applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in
profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(p)

(ii)

(a)

64

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement of financial
positions are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

2

(p)

(if)

(a)

BE_T)\F=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

FTESTHBE (#)
SEHIMBRER - BERIAREE (B)

BEMRAEE

MRAEEAREBEENEHARERR TS
% MEBEENEINR RAE R PAMER AT E R b a
i BBt R BGR E R B A B AR - 0
REERREEX @ ARBITEBEAAME L
B (Est e

ARROM AR B M Z A AT BE IR BV - SR A B
BMIELAENGE  AIEBZBEBRE/AAE
& BEEN R RERIRIN - MRERE
BRABFRERRERAREMGREE LT ERER
BFE MERBELSHREE  RIFQENZNA
BETERRIE -

NIRRT

FANINER ZIRR 5 BINE LI RBE o DN
HEMNEREEMABEHREEBNINE L iaKin
H o ERABNREERAR -

B RAGTENINEIFEREERBBIERS A
MERZE - LINEMBNIEEREERBEIGN
B A AT ERBE AR FESR -

BINEBHEERRZ AINEERRENERERE
REBTT > BEIRRKRIAR - AR E IR INEE
RIME LT - FEANEL ZHERNEMEH
Yoas B SN T S (s i s D (E B SL R AT IR A o

ITE (Holdings) Limited



(r)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the group and the revenue and costs, if applicable,
can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as
follows:

Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

Revenue from a fixed price service contract is recognised using the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to estimated total
contract costs for the contract. When the outcome of a service
contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised only
to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable.

Other services income is recognised when the relevant services are
provided.

Consultancy income

Consultancy income is recognised when the consultancy services
are rendered.

Income from maintenance services

Income from maintenance services is recognised on a straight-line
basis over the term of the maintenance service contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of services which have
not been completed on or before the end of the reporting period
are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position as
deferred maintenance income.

Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the related risks and
rewards of ownership. Revenue excludes value-added tax or other
sales taxes, if any, and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(s)

(i)

(ii)
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B SRR MR

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Government sponsorship income

Government sponsorship income is recognised when the group
complies with the conditions attaching to the sponsorship and the
income is received.

Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the

share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these

amounts are stated at their present values.
Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Equity-settled share-based payments

For share options granted under the 2011 Scheme per note 26,
the fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will

vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the options is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the options expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses).

Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.
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AR e B SRR AT

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—N\FE=A=1+—BILFE (AETIIE)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u) Operating lease charges

Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the group are classified as operating leases.

Where the group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the

leased asset.
(v)  Related parties

(i) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(@) has control or joint control of the group;
(b) has significant influence over the group; or
(©) is a member of the key management personnel of

the group or the group’s parent.

(ii) An entity is related to the group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(@) The entity and the group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(0) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Related parties (continued)

(ii) An entity is related to the group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the group or an
entity related to the group.

(f) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i).

(9) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(h) The entity, or any member of the group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—N\FE=A=1+—BILFE (AETIIE)

3  Changes in accounting policies 3 SBIBXREH
The HKICPA has issued the following amendments to HKFRSs BRI ASEMG T NI BREERNSET -
that are first effective and relevant to the group for the current RAEENARGFH B ERER :

accounting period:

. Amendments to HKAS 7, Disclosure initiative . EBGERF7HIET — THEE

. Amendments to HKAS 12, Recognition of deferred tax . BRGEERFE12585] — KRB ARIEE
assets for unrealised losses BH)RIERTH & B B FERR

. Amendments to HKFRSs, Annual improvements to HKFRSs . BEEMBRELEN —_E—NFE_T—X
2014-2016 cycle F R HAR F 8 Bk

The adoption of aforesaid amendments to HKFRSs has had no FRACEBIINEBMBEMEER - A=A

material effect on the consolidated financial statements in the TEtHRNAEENGEM BRI BESERY

current or prior accounting periods. &

The group has not applied any new or revised HKFRSs that is not REBEARGTHBRFEMNERANFEDZEMHER

yet effective for the current accounting period (see note 35). BT RASEFT BB SR EZER (RMIFE35) °

70 ITE (Holdings) Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

4 Revenue 4 EF

=

e EHER TR P AW R R HF I
customers and revenue from services rendered. The amount of I FRNERBRENEESBWENT

Revenue represents the net sales value of goods supplied to

each significant category of revenue recognised in revenue during
the year is as follows:

2018 —ZE—\F 2017 —Z2—+F

HKS$3% T HK$E 7T
Provision of smartcard systems, RHEERRS - §T5EER R
RFID and IT services AR RS
— Service revenue — PR R 13,704,698 10,069,673
— Income from maintenance services — RERIELA 11,228,885 11,580,006
— Sales of service related products — SHERRTS BRI E @ 502,348 547,433
25,435,931 22,197,112
Consultancy income AR AR TS U A = 151,541
25,435,931 22,348,653
5  Other income and other gains, net 5 HhwARHEAMFKRES
2018 —E—N\F 2017 Z=—+%F
HKS$3% 7T HK$#E 7T
Other income HAiWA
Interest income B UA 4,929 4,701
Dividend income from listed securities ETESHREWA 68,154 68,114
Government sponsorship income BT & B A 194,680 331,780
Sundry income HAbUA = 12,154
267,763 416,749
Other gains, net H it F ks
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair FRERREATEEEN
value through profit or loss TREENQTFERS 57,524 144,570
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair & BIEEIRIEZ A TERIER
value through profit or loss SREERE 26,557 71,843
84,081 216,413
351,844 633,162
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B SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

AN
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72

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Bz

"2 N\F=ZRA=+—HBLFE (RETIIE)

6  BRBiIATEF

BBADENE R (GTA)

2018 —E—N\F 2017 —&—+4F

HKS$3E T HK$#E 7T
(@)  Staff costs (including directors’ (a) BIA (BREEFME)*:
remuneration) *:
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe - TEREMEF 12,510,863 11,941,869
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRGETEIME R (FsE25)
(note 25) 460,677 453,848
Equity-settled share-based payments P8 e 45 B LA B AR B R AT 3R
(note 26) (f7E26) 347,847 692,153
13,319,387 13,087,870
(b)  Other items: (b)y EAhIER :
Auditor’s remuneration ZEAN N2 372,500 361,000
Cost of inventories sold # FE & AR 5,533,233 4,063,473
Depreciation e 352,811 343,943
Development costs # RS R AR 959,366 574,764
Exchange loss, net & KIS EFE 7,550 8,796
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BFE R
equipment REH R 2,937 2,366
Provisions (note 23) B (KisE23) 795,821 522,604
Operating lease charges: minimum KERERH
lease payments SEMAERIEA
— hire of properties — MR E 1,177,784 1,297,396
— hire of office equipment — REREEE 48,120 48,120
Reversal of unused provisions (note 23) RENFB BRI (FIFE23) (490,030) (588,512)
Write-off of inventories FEHME 216,605 8,963

##

Development costs included staff costs of HK$872,214 (2017:

HK$484,542), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(b).

Cost of inventories sold included write-off of inventories of

HK$216,605 (2017: HK$8,963), which is also disclosed separately in

note 6(b).

B 2 Ak AN B HE872,214% T (Z T — £ & ¢
484,542/ 7T) M B TR » WS ARINE EMT
6(b) B H = -

FEHEKANE$E216,6058 T (Z T — L F :

8,96387L) FEMH - I EFEMBEC EME
6(0) B L B FE
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

7 Income tax

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represents:

7

(a)

JPiR=E
HmEBEEREMEZERSERNASHEN
El

2018 —ZE— N\ 2017 —ZE—+4F

HKS$# T HK$E T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BIHE - FBHMEHR
Provision for the year FREE - -
Over provision in respect of prior years EFBEER S (19,139) =
(19,139) =

The group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which subsidiaries
within the group are domiciled and operated.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, no provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax was made as companies in the group incurred
losses for tax purpose or had sufficient tax losses brought forward
to set off against current year’s assessable profits (2017: HK$Nil).

No provision for income tax in The People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) and Macao have been made as the group did not have
any assessable profit for taxation purpose in the PRC or Macao
during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=%

7

(b)

74

Income tax (continued)

—N\F=ZA=+—HLLFE NETIIE)

Fre® (8)

Reconciliation between income tax and accounting REEHRERETENNERARENRAEG
profit at applicable tax rate: mT
2018 =2 —N\F 2017 =T —+%F
HK$#& T HK$#E7T
Profit before taxation B 5% A i ) 1,302,715 382,539
Notional tax on profit before taxation, B R AR FARIE16.5% @EMEN
calculated at the applicable REMIA
tax rate of 16.5% 214,948 63,119
Tax effect of different tax rates on BB A B AR & B R TRH
subsidiaries operating in other M2 (M)
jurisdictions (note) (72,510) (4,852)
Tax effect of share of loss of an associate FE(GE:E N A M EE E’ﬁ)ﬁ’z 2 - 23
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR B A R R 75 52 835,262 254,852
Tax effect of non-taxable income BB R T UL A BB 75 5 (793,367) (111,091)
Tax effect of prior year’s tax losses utilised ) A Ei%ﬁlﬁ;ﬁgﬂaﬁﬁhﬁw il (613,586) (291,358)
Tax effect of temporary differences not RIERK Y Z R B 5
recognised 171,065 (92,364)
Tax effect of unused tax losses RIER R ARB) AR IEE B
not recognised M2 258,188 181,671
Over provision in respect of prior years AR S 19,139 -
Income tax credit FTSTHE R 19,139 -

Note:

The applicable tax rate of the company and those subsidiaries that are

incorporated in Hong Kong is 16.5% (2017: 16.5%). The applicable tax rates of

the subsidiaries of the company incorporated outside Hong Kong are as follows:

i ITE (China) Limited is subjected to tax rate of 25% (2017: 25%).

ii. ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada is subject to a progressive tax rate from

3% to 12% (2017: 3% to 12%).

BYEE -

ARARERBEEEMAOMBERRNERHER16.5%

(=% —

£ 1 16.5%) - MAFEFBEMAOKE LR HNE

ARELT

EEMYEESEEARERARNREAR25% (=
T—+F :25%)

BERG ORF) BERAFBHFER X R/3%E
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4R B RaR MY ot

“E-N\FZA=+—HLFE AETIE)

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z

8  Directors’ remuneration 8 E=EM<e
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing BB AR LT8R A R BB D RE G E383 16 1 58
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is MNEFMEFBOT :
as follows:
2018 —E-N\F
Salaries, Equity-
allowances  Retirement settled
Directors'  and benefits scheme share-based
fees in kind contributions Sub-total payments Total
e RIELH
BER RRGTE DY8rp:)
EEHe BEWFG 5 BHEE HERGR A&t
HK$/E T HK$E T HK$E T HK$E T HK$E T HK$E T
Executive directors WITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent ElED e 232,500 1,549,578 18,000 1,800,078 25,856 1,825,934
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung PR & 232,500 427,800 17,484 677,784 25,856 703,640
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah ZEERE 52,500 - - 52,500 25,856 78,356
517,500 1,977,378 35,484 2,530,362 77,568 2,607,930
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FEREL 126,000 - - 126,000 25,856 151,856
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony RERLE 52,500 - - 52,500 25,856 78,356
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRERAE 52,500 - - 52,500 25,856 78,356
231,000 - - 231,000 77,568 308,568
Total Bt 748,500 1,977,378 35,484 2,761,362 155,136 2,916,498
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BE_T)\F=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8 EEMe (/)
2017 Bt
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Retirement settled
Directors’  and benefits scheme share-based
fees inkind  contributions Sub-total payments Total
2 PRiEEE
ER RIKETE PABR 7
E5Me EMAla SR Hnas ERAR A&l
HK$ AT HK$# T HK$&TT HK$&TT HK$# T HK$#TT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Dt 230,000 1,322,811 18,000 1,570,811 46,144 1,616,955
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung LGl 230,000 376,050 17,223 623,273 46,144 669,417
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 2EELE 50,000 - - 50,000 46,144 96,144
Mr. George Roger Manho RS
(retired on 8 August 2016) (R=ZT—RE
NANBER) 17,799 - = 17,799 = 17,799
527,799 1,698,861 35,223 2,261,883 138,432 2,400,315
Independent non-executive BFRTES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen FEREL 120,000 - - 120,000 46,144 166,144
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony GEDpH:d 50,000 - - 50,000 46,144 96,144
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRELE 50,000 - = 50,000 46,144 96,144
220,000 - - 220,000 138,432 358,432
Total At 747,799 1,698,861 35,223 2,481,883 276,864 2,758,747
9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EEHAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2017:

REMGESHFALF M (ZF—LF: W)

two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The RES  FENHESCENWES  Htg=u (=ZF
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three (2017: —tF =) ZEFATHMESEEET
three) individuals are as follows:
2018 —ZE—\&F 2017 ZF—tF
HKS$#B T HK$A 7T
Salaries and other emoluments FekEME 1,776,932 1,757,231
Retirement scheme contributions RORGT B 54,000 54,000
Equity-settled share-based payments & 45 & LA A B R TR 61,050 108,950
1,891,982 1,920,181
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 BES#HAL (&)
(continued)

The emoluments of the three (2017: three) individuals with the =N (ZE—+F: =) EaFALTOMeN T
highest emoluments are within the following band: L e
2018 =& —N\F 2017 ZZ—+4F
Number of individuals Number of individuals
ATHEHE AT#H
HK$Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z% 7T — 1,000,000/ T 3 3
10 Dividends 10 BE
The board of directors do not recommend the payment of any HE-ZT - \RZZE—tF=A=+—HILEFE "
dividend in respect of the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. EFWTEZREEMRE -
11 Earnings per share 11 BRER
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit BREXRBMDERANRAEE AEWGEF
attributable to owners of the company of HK$1,321,854 (2017: 1,321,854 . (= & — £ F : 382,5398 7t) &
HK$382,539) and the weighted average of 925,508,000 (2017: FREETE R A N5 AR 2925,508,0004%
926,733,042) ordinary shares in issue during the year, calculated (ZZ—+4F : 926,733,042/%) * 5T EMT :
as follows:
2018 =& —N\F 2017 —ZZ—+%F
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April RO A—HRBEBETEBR 925,508,000 927,356,000
Effect of repurchase of shares BB RR 1 B 72 &
(note 27 (a)(ii) (FFEE27(a) (i) - (622,958)
Weighted average number of R=EA=+—HH
ordinary shares at 31 March B AR INHE T 8 925,508,000 926,733,042
As the company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary BE_ZT-\R=FT—tF=-A=+—HLLFEL
shares during the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, basic and EEEAEEEAR  WEAREERFER -

diluted earnings per share are the same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—N\FE=A=1+—BILFE (AETIIE)

12 Segment reporting 12
(@) Operating segment information (a)

The group conducts its business within one business segment,
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject
to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the group’s operating
activities are attributable to a single operating segment.

(b) Geographical information (b)

The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong,
Macao and the PRC.

The group’s revenue from external customers and information

about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed

R E

B

S

CESHER

AEBENKERF—EASED T - DEERES
BTSRRI R BB RS A RABRAARTS - FTE RS
B Em RSO AFRUEE - Ak KER - 8
It - ZJS;%.E)]Z«(%A/E@J/\ﬁ g %‘@/\ﬁg ©
o35 & R

REEFEEERE  RFIARPBILEET -

REBEREINE P U RIERENE ZE R Hi% 5 #B 40
T

below:
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
HINEF FRBEE
2018 —ZE—\F 2017 —ZE—+tF 2018 —E—N\F 2017 —ZE—+tF
HK$#B T HK$/E 7T HK$#E T HKS$ETT
Hong Kong Es 21,814,530 19,765,676 198,619 481,752
Macao JRPY 3,621,401 2,582,977 1,061 2,208
PRC I E - — - 4,352
25,435,931 22,348,653 199,680 488,312
() Information about major customers (0 EBRTEFFEH

For the year ended 31 March 2018, there were two (2017:
four) customers who accounted for over 10% of total revenue
of the group with aggregate amount of HK$5,724,765 (2017:
HK$10,397,710).
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

13 Property, plant and equipment 13 ¥¥- - BERRE

Computer
Leasehold Furniture and other
improvements  and fixtures equipment Total
HEMEHXE  GARKE SRRHMORE aF
HK$ETT HK$# T HK$#E T HK$ETT
Cost: AR
At 1 April 2016 —E—FmA—H 416,800 337,251 891,979 1,646,030
Additions B 493,556 11,802 204,459 709,817
Disposals HeE (416,800) (55,725) (171,735) (644,260)
Exchange realignment & 5 % - - (3,189) (3,189)
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+F=HA=+—H
and 1 April 2017 k=—F—+FWHA—H 493,556 293,328 921,514 1,708,398
Additions RE = 750 66,366 67,116
Disposals & - (8,868) (71,948) (80,816)
Exchange realignment PE H % - _ _ _
At 31 March 2018 RZE—N\F=A=1+—H 493,556 285,210 915,932 1,694,698
Accumulated depreciation: Z3HinE
At 1 April 2016 —T—REmMA—H 399,060 336,139 785,718 1,520,917
Charge for the year ERNFE 253,788 2,483 87,672 343,943
Eliminated on disposals SR (416,800) (55,725) (169,369) (641,894)
Exchange realignment PE 5 % - - (2,880) (2,880)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 RZE—+F=A=+—H
RZZT—+FMA—H 236,048 282,897 701,141 1,220,086
Charge for the year FAFTE 257,508 3,380 91,923 352,811
Eliminated on disposals R T S = (8,867) (69,012) (77,879)
Exchange realignment P& 5 - - - -
At 31 March 2018 RZE-—N\F=A=1+—H 493,556 277,410 724,052 1,495,018
Carrying amount: IREE :
At 31 March 2018 R=ZE—-N\F=A=1+—H = 7,800 191,880 199,680
At 31 March 2017 N—E—+tF=A=1+—H 257,508 10,431 220,373 488,312
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

14 Interest in an associate

E-T-)\F=ZA=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

14 BEQTRER

2018 =E—N\F 2017 Z=—+4F
HK$# T HK$#7T
Unlisted investment, at cost FEEHIRE (BA) 2,639 2,639
Accumulated share of loss FE(E 2ETE1E (2,639) (2,639)
Particulars of the group’s associate at 31 March 2018 and 2017 RZZE—N\FERZZT—tF=A=1+—H ' A5H
are as follows: HEFE N AERIAT

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Percentage of equity

Name operations attributable to the group Principal activities
B3GR REE PTG
=L EE i B BEEDL FEXK
Indirect
CiEE:
2018 2017
=E-N\F —T—tF
Precision Instrument and Hong Kong 25.13% 25.13% Provision of custom-developed
Optics Limited B high-end laser scanning
KSR B R AR microscopes
R = IR AN RS 2E 2 P 5 A AR B BR R
The associate is indirectly held by the group through a subsidiary Bt N RRBAARIMBARIEE °

of the company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

14 Interest in an associate (continued) 14

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s unlisted
associate is as follows:

Precision Instrument and Optics Limited

BENTER (F)

AEENIF LTS ARNBMBEHENT ¢

IRAREERA A

2018 —ZE—\FE 2017 _Z—+F

HK$#E T HK$#E T
Current assets RENEE 211,753 95,668
Current liabilities mEE & 409,049 254,252
Net liabilities REFE (197,296) (158,584)
Revenue Wz 105,374 -
Loss and total comprehensive expense EEEHEMEE HEF 38,713 5,568
Shared by the group: REBEER -
Loss and total comprehensive expense (Note) EBEEREMEES HEF (BE) - 139
Net assets BEFE = =

Note:  The group has not recognised a share of loss of the associate for the FizE -
year as it has been limited to HK$Nil (2017: share of loss of HK$139)
because the interest in this associate was reduced to zero. The
unrecognised share of losses for the year and accumulated share of
losses up to and as at 31 March 2018 is approximately HK$9,729 and
HK$49,368 respectively (2017: HK$1,260 and HK$39,639 respectively).

MRS A RERERNT BT BAEERF A ERE
REEEEE (ZT—t4F 1 13987T) - MERKRERRE
EEBRBERR-Z— N \GE=A=1t—BHNRTEES
B 5 R /9,729 T k49,368 L (ZE—tF : DAl A
1,260/ 7T )% 39,6397 7T ) °

15 Goodwill 15 BEE
HK$ETT
Cost 5N
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017, 1 April 2017 and R-ZE—XREMA—B  —T—+FE=A=+—08
31 March 2018 —E—+tFNA-—BER=Z—/\F=A=1+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation RE#H
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017, 1 April 2017 and R-ZE—AR"FWA—H - —T—+tF=A=+—8 -
31 March 2018 —E—+FMA—ABAR-_ZTE—N\FE=A=+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment loss RBERERSE
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017, 1 April 2017 and R_ZE—AFMA—HB - —FT—+tF=ZA=1+—8 "
31 March 2018 —E—+FNA—BER=_ZE—/\F=ZA=1+—H 6,338,616
Carrying amount IR E
At 31 March 2018 RZE—N\F=A=+—H -
At 31 March 2017 RZE—+tF=A=+—H -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—N\FE=A=1+—BILFE (AETIIE)

16 Inventories 16 =FE

2018 —E—\&F 2017 —ZE—+%

HK$#E T HK$A T
Raw materials R 775,141 847,127
Work in progress ERE 271,476 295,045
Finished goods UK 207,344 163,563
1,253,961 1,305,735
. =R
17 Trade and other receivables 17 FEREZ R HMWERIKER
2018 —Z— )\ 2017 ZZE—+t5F
HKS$# T HK$ 7T
Trade receivables FEUE SRK 2,122,475 3,659,247
Other receivables H th & LR IR 3R 870,389 1,275,284
Gross amount due from customers for service BWEERRSE L
contract work (note 24) Ti2skIEEEE (Mizk24) 4,610,974 2,119,568
Retention money receivables EURE € 164,641 184,716
Deposits and prepayments HEISSENE-T:= 1,169,978 1,352,771
8,938,457 8,591,586
All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits B & 88290,1798 L (ZF —+ 4 : 188,594 7T)
of HK$290,179 (2017: HK$188,594) are expected to be recovered ETHE2I  *EBENMERKE S R EMmE
or recognised as expenses within one year. YRR FBEAR —FAr ek ERAER °

(@) An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the (a) REBEBZREST  RBEPREBURES
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice IRAXIRER DU T
date, is as follows:

2018 —E—N\&F 2017 —Z—+t4F

HK$#E T HKS$E 7T
Less than 1 month DR —1E A 1,570,724 2,279,459
More than 1 month but less than 3 months  #8:@— & AEL R =184 246,876 1,201,536
More than 3 months but less than 1 year BR=EAELR—F 304,875 178,252
2,122,475 3,659,247
Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days (2017: 30 FEWE 2R ERIE B B30REAR (ZF— £
to 45 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group’s % 1 30KZE45K) NEIH - FEHRMEE28() A K

credit policy are set out in note 28(a). BEEEBOR -

82 ITE (Holdings) Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

17 Trade and other receivables (continued) 17 EWEZREMERIIKRI (&)

(b) The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are (b) RIMEHREKWE ZIRARILLEIRMDH

neither individually nor collectively considered to 2EZRBENIRE DTN T
be impaired as at the end of the reporting period is
as follows:

2018 —ZE—\F 2017 —Z2—+F

HKS$# 7T HK$#E T
Neither past due nor impaired I FEE HR TR AR E 495,185 1,321,190
Less than 1 month past due wE DR —@EA 1,084,539 1,760,939
More than 1 month but B ERER R — & A
less than 3 months past due BLR=1EA 237,876 398,866
More than 3 months but B AR A = 18 A
less than 1 year past due BLR—5F 304,875 178,252
Amounts past due B e 1,627,290 2,338,057
2,122,475 3,659,247
()  Trade receivables that are not impaired () RERENEREZIRMK
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a EYIRFOR BB RER RSN EF R EHERT
wide range of customers for whom there was no recent history of 8 o
default.
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a EAHEKIEFERERENBRUTFEAEEA
number of independent customers that have a good track record REFsk - RIBBELSR  EBREEGELHSERY
with the group. Based on past experience, management believes EEEREE RN KRB IE R 2 EUk e fT A
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these REELRMEREMS - AEERARFA M S EREM
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit BB AR YD o

quality and the balances are considered fully recoverable. The
group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—N\FE=A=1+—BILFE (AETIIE)

18 Loans to an associate 18 HEQATEN
Loans to an associate are unsecured, interest-bearing at 2% per S NRERIEZ BRI - UFFZ2% (ZF—+
annum (2017: 2% per annum) and repayable within 1 year from FFERER2%) FEXBERARERR—FANE
the end of the reporting period. The directors consider that these B -BREFRIMENRNELCERHRFABES
loans are recoverable in view of the associate’s in early stage of Wz - BRAELERDAIYE -

business and begins to generate revenue in current year.

19 Financial assets at fair value through profit 19 ZEBEEZREATFTEEENESH
or loss BE

2018 —E—\&F 2017 —&—+4F

HKS$# T HK$E 7T
Listed securities — held-for-trading LETES —HEER
— Equity securities in Hong Kong — BB ER B S 1,249,406 1,675,370
— Equity securities outside Hong Kong — BARERE S 842,808 -
Market value of listed securities FTESNTISER 2,092,214 1,675,370
The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid FIERRESFNRTEHEREGUMISHNIER R
prices in an active market. RAEHE ©
There have been no significant declines in their fair value below FA - ETRBFRENA Iﬁiﬁiﬁ%ﬁiﬁTﬂiﬁﬁé
cost and adverse changes in the market value of listed equity BOARA R TIG BRI EAFRE - HARFESER
investments during the year. The directors of the company Z%)x*ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%%@ﬂ’xiﬁ%fﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ’\]E’%%ﬁ °
considered that no impairment indication has been noted on the
listed equity investments.
20 Income tax recoverable 20 HWEFREB
(@) Income tax recoverable (a) T EIFIER
At 31 March 2018, income tax recoverable is HK$nil (2017: RZE—N\F=ZA=+—8 ' AIREMAERESTH
HK$7,547). T (ZF—+t%F : 7,547%75T) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z

Income tax recoverable (continued)

ARE SRR MR

“E-N\FZA=+—HLFE AETIE)

20 TAIWEIFRER (8)

Deferred tax assets (b) EEHEBEE
At 31 March 2018, the group has not recognised deferred REZZ—N\F=A=+—H AR BAENERTH
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately MEFMEAREANELTETE  NEERAM
HK$31,757,000 (2017: HK$33,661,000) and deductible temporary A 65 1840 T K FE SR MO IR FE B4 B B 49.4831,757,000
differences of approximately HK$Nil (2017: HK$392,000) due to 7B (ZF — + F : 33,661,000/ J0) @ M &
the uncertainty of the related tax benefits being realised through RO ENEREZENATAT (T —LF:
future taxable profits. The unused tax losses of approximately 392,000/ 7T) ° AR BB IAEE 1,307,000 7T
HK$1,307,000 (2017: HK$1,436,000) can be carried forward for (ZZ—+4 :1,436,000/870) A] BLAS B HEE
offset against the taxable profits of subsequent years for five years HAFERARRAFHERBORF] - M E g8 R
following the first profit-making year. Other unused tax losses may A KA o
be carried forward indefinitely.
Deferred tax liabilities () ELEHEAME
At 31 March 2018, there were no significant unrecognised RZZE—NEF=ZA=+—0 ' WRAEEMNERNRE
deferred tax liabilities (2017: HK$Nil). REERIBEE (ZE—+F : THT) °
Cash and bank balances and time deposits 21 BE&RBITEBUREHRER
2018 = —N\F 2017 —E—+%F
HKS$# T HK$E T
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTAEER 6,855,316 4,520,335
Time deposits TE BATF 3K 2,000,274 2,000,274
8,855,590 6,520,609
Less: Pledged bank deposits B BERRITER (2,000,274) (2,000,274)
Cash and cash equivalents Be kRS EEY 6,855,316 4,520,335

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2018, time deposits are made
for terms of one to two months (2017: one to two months).

Bank deposits of HK$2,000,274 (2017: HK$2,000,274) has been
pledged to secure banking facility granted to the group (note 30)
during the year.
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EHGEREEBTIRT  (ERERAARZEN B
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BE-Z—N\FE=A=1+—BILFE (AETIIE)

22 Trade and other payables 22 HEZRHEMEMIER
2018 =2 —N\F 2017 —ZT—+4F
HKS$# T HK$#E7T
Trade payables BB SRR 803,324 422,948
Accrued charges and other payables fEstE R N EMEIRRE 1,891,990 2,054,166
Gross amount due to customers for FRRFRREEL
service contract work (note 24) TRFEEE (MiE24) 1,420,713 741,445
Deferred maintenance income EIERS A 2,089,243 2,011,355
6,205,270 5,229,914
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled AEBHENE S REMEMNIRFEERR —FR
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on XA REERKERHERRBIKA ©
demand.
The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the RERR - ZERB P ERME ZIRROIRER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: AT
2018 = —\&F 2017 ZF—+4F
HK$#E T HK$#7T
Less than 1 month DR —1E A 558,036 350,218
More than 1 month but less than 3 months #:E—EAEBLR=@EA 168,074 69,370
More than 3 months but less than 1 year — #HB@E={AABIR—4 77,214 3,360
803,324 422,948
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

23  Provisions 23 BE
Employee Defect liability
benefits period
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) Total
EEER R EH
(Ff=E(a)) (P =E(b)) &5t
HK$E T HK$ 7T HK$E7T
At 1 April 2016 R-ZE—RFMA—H 47,726 434,367 482,093
Additional provisions recognised MR (HIEE6(b))
(note 6(b)) 116,115 406,489 522,604
Reversal of unused provisions RE)H BRI (5E6(b))
(note 6(b)) (86,151) (502,361) (588,512)
At 31 March 2017 and RZZ—+F=A=+—HBK
1 April 2017 —ZE—+FmA—H 77,690 338,495 416,185
Additional provisions recognised EIMEREEHE (FiiFE6(b)
(note 6(b)) 359,665 436,156 795,821
Reversal of unused provisions RE)AEERIE (MEE6(b))
(note 6(b)) (91,126) (398,904) (490,030)
At 31 March 2018 RZZE-—N\F=A=+—H 346,229 375,747 721,976
Notes: B
(a) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a BERMNBENEESEFREMERRIRE S

BRI o

compensation and long service leave claims made by employees.

REBBEDIRETLEE TR EERRESNME
TRERRA - ARREHBERENMERTZEDR
A BORBERMIRE -

(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b)
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted
for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period
because the effect would not be material.

. . e /T PAN
24 Service contracts in progress 24 ETHFHBRBEN
2018 —E—\F 2017 ZF—+4F
HKS$E T HK$# 7T
Contract costs incurred plus recognised ESBEENAIMNEN T

profits less recognised losses to date B2 Pl TE R A 1R 9,382,974 6,330,840
Less: Progress billings B EERR (6,192,713) (4,952,717)
3,190,261 1,378,123

Gross amount due from customers for EREFHREE L TIE
service contract work (note 17) sRIEREE (KisE17) 4,610,974 2,119,568

Gross amount due to customers for ENEEHRSEALHIRE
service contract work (note 22) FIBEEE (MisE22) (1,420,713) (741,445)
3,190,261 1,378,123
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26

88

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
"MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary
is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at
specified rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$460,677 (2017: HK$453,848).

Share option scheme

The company operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2011 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2011 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the company
within any 12-month period, is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

25

26

BE_T)\F=A=+—BLFE CAETIIE)

B TRIRER

ARERESBHIEAHSH BED AR B EBIE
1 50 T FUR I 2278 R B FIR AT RIS
BRRRERAIEAELHE (RS ) - &
WS A 8RR IRINE 8 B AR
SEE - RAREEHE - LR ERLERIE
RAEMNHEMs%ARELHBEK TEAH
Men# e £IR A30,000/87 « FA SR T
5t -

ARARFENNEA RS BT REAERE S
BHES 2 TREERNEHGE - B ARKRES
BB R ERENLL R MES EAT EELAR
FERY AR o

REBRAFEFTABZORKENTEHETE
460,677/ 0 (ZZ—+4% : 453,848/B7T) °

BRAESTE

ARAET_T——F58 ERUAEEEE
KR AEMERIY A ERERERE R EE - —FT—
—FHEEEREREARES  HRMEeEBKE
WITEER  AEBEMER  EmMRGHER -
BERPREHE - —F——FFER T ——FN\A
NERAER - BREBUHSE BN - AR E B
AT ERBR

MITEME W ARITENER L BRSNS ITED
AAR—F——Fit@ R EMBRETINER
- BTN A TREB R R ETER
B30% ° PMERI+—AABHA - KRR —F——4%F
B R AR E A B A T Bl B A B E AT E#
MENEE  EREELRARAEREEITRHD
1% ° BB EROBEER L - BRERERA
BRI
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share option scheme (continued)

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general

meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercisable
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 2011 Scheme,
if earlier.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (i) the nominal value of the share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 9 July 2015, the company granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,950,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.18% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

On 6 December 2016, the company further granted share options
to certain eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of
14,650,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the company, represented approximately 1.58% of all the
shares in issue as at the date of the grant.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z—\F=A=+—HILFE (LUETINE)

26 Share option scheme (continued) 26 BEREE (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s share (a) FRRBE-ZT——FTEREWBERE
options in issue under the 2011 Scheme during the FESIRMOT
year
Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AT AR
Exercise price At 1 April Granted during Lapsed during At 31 March
Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2017 the year the year 2018
RIF—tE RZB-N\&
ERMRE RiAH fifed BIRTRER mA-A EREL EREM ZA=t-A
HKS 7L
Independent non-executive 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
directors “Z-RELANA 7 August 2021
BUHES 2 E-ANRE
“E_-5/\AtR 0.154 2,700,000 = = 2,700,000
Directors of subsidiaries of 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
the company “E-1EtLANA 7 August 2021
$QQW§QQW§$ —E- ME ANRZE
“Z_-5/\AtR 0.154 3,750,000 - - 3,750,000
Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to
At ZE-REEANA 7 August 2021
“F-F-ANAZ
ZE2-EN\AtR 0.154 4,500,000 - - 4,500,000
Executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
HES SERETZARA 7 August 2021
i ik
“ZT-EN\AA 0.146 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
Independent non-executive 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
directors ZENETZARE 7 August 2021
BunEs “B+EARRE
“TT-EN\AA 0.146 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
Directors of subsidiaries of 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
the company ZENETZARA 7Augu5t 2001
ARANBARNES “E—t§5A0A%
_*_—E \AtH 0.146 3,350,000 = = 3,350,000
Other employees 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to
AftieS ZE-RETZARE 7 August 2021
“E-t5/ARRE
“Z--F\AtA 0.146 4,750,000 - (500,000) 4,250,000
Total A3 24,450,000 - (500,000) 23,950,000
Weighted average exercise price (HK9)

IETEEER (B) 0.15

During the period between the date of grant and the end of the RIRE BEEARRE R - 4 $£500,000 (ZF —
reporting period, total of 500,000 (2017: 1,150,000) share options +4F 1 1,150,000) B A% 4E R 48 (R S BB i 23k o
were lapsed due to resignation of relevant employee. No share BE2-_ZT—\K-_ZT—+tF=A=+—HILFE -

options were exercised by the eligible participants during the year BEBREIWRBITEE(TERE

ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share option scheme (continued) 26
Fair value of share options and assumption (b)

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options
granted is measured based on a binominal model. The contractual
life of the share options is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial

model.

The inputs into the model were as follows:

Date of grant A EA

Total number of share options MRS A 2n

Share price of the company at the date of grant BHE BARQRRE
Exercise price per share BRITEER
Expected volatility L]

Option life MR
Expected dividend yield TEEAIR BE A
Risk-free interest rate # | pea | =

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of the
company’s share price and it is assumed there is no material
change over the whole life of share options.

The total fair value of the share options granted during 2017
was approximately HK$1,080,000 with fair value of HK$0.08 for
each option. The group has recognised equity-settled share-based
payments of HK$347,847 (2017: HK$692,153) arising from
options vested during the year.

Save as disclosed above, no share options was granted, exercised,
cancelled, or lapsed in accordance with the terms of the share
option scheme of the company during both the current and prior

year.
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BREstE (A)
BA R HE Y D P ERBRR

ARBUFELBREMNESORENAFESER
BN A FERE - BEBRENGTAFER
“HARAGE - BRENSNHAARHEA 22—
BASY - BHRPTENSHDEA ZHENEN
o

RABAZEAT -
9 July 2015 6 December 2016
“ZE-RAFtANA ZZ—R"E+=AXKH
10,950,000 14,650,000

HK$0.146/5 7T
HK$0.146/ 7T

HK$0.152% 7T
HK$0.154/% 7T

91% 76%

6.08 yearst 4.67 yearstF
Nil & Nil &

1.26% 1.18%

TEERK VB T AR SR 2 AR (B A0 S0 - AR AR
BREENENREEARE -

RZZT—t & AER0.08BTHRFETHE -
BB RER AT E TR 41,080,000/ T °
REBBERFERHERI47,847H T (ZT—LF -
692,153 7T) HIIRREA E AR AEGEIK ©

DA BB - 4 PO R o5 4 S A AR R MR T
BB « BUN SR -
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(a)
(i)

(ii)

92

Capital and reserves
Share capital

Authorized and issued share capital

27 EBEXRKEE
(a) B

(i) EERBETRA

2018 =2 N\F 2017 ZF—+F
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
REE BT RDEE BT

Authorised: TR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREE0.01B AL BA%

2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000

Ordinary share, issued and fully paid: 2277 M &2 IR AN L A%

925,508,000 9,255,080 927,356,000 9,273,560
= - (1,848,000) (18,480)

1 April RIEA—H
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)ii) R (FfEE27()ii)
At 31 March M=A=+—8

925,508,000 9,255,080 925,508,000 9,255,080

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the company’s residual assets.

Repurchase of shares

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the company did not
repurchase its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the company repurchased
its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

LTRRFEABREISFURAERAOKE  THRE
RASKESZ LIESR—BRERR - %E%@%
EAEERGEEHATMARSHAL o

(ii) EE-G)

HE—_Z—N\F=A=1+—HLEE  ARRITE
E’éx%ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬂxﬂﬂ

BE_ T tF-A=1T—HLFE ARFANXX
S BB T E B D

Number of Aggregate Price paid per share
shares amount B B
Month/year £,/ 8 repurchased paid Highest Lowest
ol A 21 B FRNEGE &= LN
HK$Z 7T HK$AE 7T HK$E 7T
2017 —E—+tHF
September 2016 —T—XRFNA 500,000 75,468 0.150 0.150
October 2016 _f—/\fF‘HE] 700,000 103,698 0.149 0.142
March 2017 —T—+F=AH 648,000 86,694 0.133 0.133
1,848,000 265,860

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the issued share capital
of the company was reduced by the nominal value of these
shares of HK$Nil (2017: HK$18,480) and the premium paid on
the repurchase of the shares of HK$Nil (2017: HK$247,380) was
charged to share premium account.

HE-Z—\F=A=+—RHILEE  ARFEE%H
TRABHEZEROOEETAZTEL (Z2—t
F 1 18,480/87T) - INEIBRHEENTHE T (:
T — 5 : 247,380/ 7w) ERFRRKRMD = E
ek -

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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(b)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z

Capital and reserves (continued)
Nature and purpose of reserves
Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(q).

Share option reserve

This reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to eligible persons,
including any director, employee, consultant or advisor of the
company and its subsidiaries or any associate of the company,
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy in note 2(s)

(iii).
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(c)

(d)

94

B SRR MR

Capital and reserves (continued)
Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, none of the reserves of the company
is available for distribution to owners of the company, except for
the reserve as stated in note 27 (b)(i).

Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to

finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of

changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose, the group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes trade and other payables)
plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents
and pledged deposits. Adjusted capital comprises all components
of equity less unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2017, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%.
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new

In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may

shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell

assets to reduce debt.
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(a)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. The group is also
exposed to equity price risk arising from its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

These risks are limited by the group’s financial management
policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past
history of making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days
(2017: 30 to 45 days) from the date of billing. Normally, the group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has an
influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. At the end of the
reporting period, the group has a certain concentration of credit
risk as 28% (2017: 37%) and 71% (2017: 78%) of the total trade
receivables were due from the group’s largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are set out in
note 17.
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Financial risk management and fair values 28
(continued)

Liquidity risk (b)

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, the group
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted

cash flows, was as follows:

TRAREERATVE ()

ESRBMHER

AEBNBRRDRFRANRERASEEY - X
FrABRITRENAIEARGEHEE - WEFEIHT
FERKEHIMNAESIH - ARAEZRA  AK
EEAEERHESRRARNEESTEE LA

EERREBEZMMR °

RIERR  AEEMBEENEREENRTERSR

ERFNRAD

2018 ZE—\f§ 2017 Z5—t%
Total Total
contractual Within contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash outflows on demand amount  cash outflows  on demand
BRRTE R-FRH BHRTR  R—FA%K
IREE Remt  EEREE IREE Rent  EERER
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
Trade and other payables ERE 5 R E M ERIRS
~ Trade payables —- ERE SRR 803,324 803,324 803,324 422,948 422,948 422,948
— Accrued charges and -EREAR
other payables Hib IR 1,891,990 1,891,990 1,891,990 2,054,166 2,054,166 2,054,166
2,695,314 2,695,314 2,695,314 2,477,114 2,477,114 2,477,114
Interest rate risk () F=mEp
The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits. AEBNTIENSEEDRRITER  AEENH
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market BWAGEKETIST = ES) - (85 K% B8 B

interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the
group’s financial position.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial
performance and equity for the year.

SEM
R EAFIZE -

MEI00EEFMNEIEA BB K TS HAREE K
RRRAFENFBRENERELEEATE -
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Financial risk management and fair values 28 <SREREERLFE (&)
(continued)
Currency risk (d) EH¥EkE
The group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are ARAEBARNELRXS BEERABHEIEIN
principally denominated in HK$, RMB, MOP, US$ and JPY. The BT ARK R - ETRRATIIE - HE A
group has minimal exposure to currency risk as the foreign ZHYHNE EBR K o B RO JT K i R B P R
exchange rate of HK$ is close to MOP and HK$ is also pegged RATHETHHEER  WAKEMEAZHEE
with US$. The group currently does not have a currency hedging [RLBR AR AR o 7N B2 [ 3R BRF 3 5 (R T I AR (T S A1
policy in respect of currency debt. The group will monitor its FEECR - NEEGEEAERAINERR - WREHR
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant TR DASNE 3R HA S 40 59 R N EE @B o
currency exposure should the need arise.
The following table details the group’s exposure at the end of the Kﬁlﬁx&iﬂﬁﬂiﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬁ ERNERAEKZ7
reporting period to currency risk arising from recognised assets BREERBEMEENEBREBRFMANAT
or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.
Net exposure of Assets and liabilities
BEEEREHETE
2018 —E—N\F 2017 Z=—+45F
HK$%JTE HK$/;§7E
RMB AEHE 163,659 79,213
MOP SRPT 873,311 1,006,981
us$ ETT 85,942 65,971
JPY Hot 3,347 =
A reasonably possible change of 1% in exchange rates between AR T RPIMEE T ETEB TR AT
RMB to HK$, MOP to HK$, US$ to HK$ and JPY to HK$ would RS T 7 FEE R 1% A 1B o8 B 7K & B i) & R Bt
have no significant impact on the group’s financial performance R RERTREEATE o
and equity for the year.
Equity price risk (e) MKERMR
The group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are AEBHERERREATFEEENSBREESR
measured at fair value at end of each reporting period. Therefore, WMEMRARNFENE - WASEREMEYRER

the group is exposed to equity price risk. The directors of the
company manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

At 31 March 2018, if the market price of the listed equity
securities had increased/decreased by 10% with all other variables
held constant, the group’s profit after tax would have been
HK$175,000 (2017: HK$140,000) higher/lower (2017: higher/
lower).
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()

(9)

29
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Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

Categories of financial instruments

28

(f)

TRAREERATVE ()

TR TAMNER

2018 —E—N\&E 2017 —E—+t%F

HKS$# T HK$E 7T

Financial assets EMEE
Loan and receivables (including cash and ERRERIER (BIERE R

bank balances and time deposits) RITEBR R EHFR) 13,274,241 12,955,685
Fair value through profit or loss BRBERRIEATE

(held for trading) (FHEEH) 2,092,214 1,675,370
Financial liabilities SRIBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost HBHEKANSHEE 2,695,314 2,477,114

Fair values (90 ~¥HE

All financial instruments are carried at cost not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

The carrying value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are measured at fair value which is included in a category
of level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments, as defined in HKFRS 13.

Commitments

At 31 March 2018, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

29

ESRTAMNARKAEEN_"T-—\R_F—
tE=ZA=+—BNRFEEEATH -

BRBERREATFENSREEREERS — R
B REFBMBHREENF 135 - DEAERS
BT ANERTS CREHE) HIRE -

IR

REZE-NF=ZA=1+—RH AEERBEHADE
B IS A 8 AR AR B T B B R S e R B R

IR

2018 —E—N\&F 2017 —Z—+4F

HK$#E 7T HK$/E7T

Within 1 year —FR 1,041,840 1,064,655
After 1 year but within 5 years —FEAFA 1,041,840 -
2,083,680 1,064,655

The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held
under operating leases. The leases typical run for a period of 1
year to 2 years (2017: 1 year to 2 years) with an option to renew
the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

The group did not have any other significant capital and financial
commitments as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

AEBEETREHENDERRBETAES A
WA FE_F(CT—tF: —FE2-F)
I AR R A G R T EATRE - ZEEOIRE
EAIRAEE -

AEBR - \RK_ZT—+tF=ZA=Z+—HIE
I ERAE AN % B A5 o

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

Banking facility 30 SRITAE

At 31 March 2018, the time deposits of HK$2,000,274 (2017: R-ZZE—N\FE=A=+—H " 2,000,2748 T (=F
HK$2,000,274) (note 21) have been pledged as securities for —+4F : 2,000,274 7T) (Mt 5F21) £ B 77 RE
banking facilities granted to the group on the performance TRT  ERERAEEETEENEERE B
guarantee in respect of one of the projects of the group. ZIHAE T °

Material related party transactions 31 EXBAEALIRS

Key management personnel remuneration (a) EAREEABME

Remuneration for key management personnel of the group, RATIBEREEAEMWNEBRIELNARREELE
represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in M8 HEE -

note 8.

Other related party transactions (b) HMEAEALRS

The group entered into the following material related party FA - AEETZA EFNERBEALTRS :

transactions during the year:

2018 —ZE—N\F 2017 —Z—+4F

HK$#E T HK$E 7T
Interest income from an associate Bk N A1 A9 FLE M 4,797 4,000
Balance with a related party is disclosed in the consolidated B 5 RPN RS TSRO R 7 18558 -
statement of financial position and in note 18.
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32 Subsidiaries’ information 32 MEARESR
At 31 March 2018 and 2017, particulars of the group’s principal NTRAEER-_E—N\EK=_T—tF=A=+—
subsidiaries are as follows: HOEEMERRFS :
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ Percentage of issued and
Name of company establishment ownership interest paid up capital Principal activities
BRTRBERA
N T R FERENE A MR 15 FEEK
Indirect
Gk
2018 2017
“E-0\F DT LR
ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 Provision of smartcard systems
BRZGARRF 0 shares of and related services and sales of
HK$1 each service related products
3,418,336 REE R AR KRG &
(BREE1T) HERBHEER
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares of Manufacture and research of
B HK$1 each smartcard system and
2R service related products
(BREET) EERREBE S EZRREER
[TE (China) Limited (Note) the PRC 100% 100% United States Provision of smartcard systems
LMY KB ERRBRAT H dollars ("US$") and related services
i) 700,000 B R R R KR
700,0003 7T
Quesco Systems Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 6,500,000 Provision of IT consultancy services
EREGBRERAR B shares of REBMR B R
HK$1 each
6,500,0004%
(BREEIT)
TE Sistema (Macau) Limitada Macao 100% 100% Macao Patacas Provision of smartcard systems and
BRZGERRA (RF) i ("MOP") 25,000 related services and sales of
25,0002 service related products
REBERRG RIRERE R
HERBHEBER
Note:  ITE (China) Limited is a wholly foreign owned enterprise with an M : MY KREERSARATA—RE2IEDL
operating period of 20 years expiring on 26 June 2021. The company is BomMER A — L E A E - —EN N

in the process of winding up.

100
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) BZE-Z—N\F=A=+—HI-FE UABTIIE)

32 Subsidiaries’ information (continued) 32 B ARIEFR (&)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in ERINTESRARETENEAGERNFEHNBRE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial LAAEEFEETZEARBONNBAR - £F
performance for the year or formed a substantial portion of the RAWSEEAMNE A RNFEEEERRIEBRIT
net assets of the group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, Ko

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.
33 Financial information of the company 33 AAFWEMBEEHR
(a) Statement of financial position (a) BB RE

2018 =& —N\F 2017 ZZF—+4F
HKS$#E T HK$A T

Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RHTEB R RINIRE 4,000,000 4,000,000

Current assets RENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT B A bR X = 289,128
Deposits and prepayments Al RIBERNER 203,661 173,349
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRIRSEEY 2,065,221 1,522,939
2,268,882 1,985,416
Current liabilities REAE

Accrued charges and other payables FEET 2 PR 2 EL At FE AT R X 383,445 353,008
Net current assets RENEEFE 1,885,437 1,632,408
Net assets EEFE 5,885,437 5,632,408

Capital and reserves BEAXRR B
Share capital (&N 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves (note 33(b)) 8 (KizE33(b)) (3,369,643) (3,622,672)
Total equity R 5,885,437 5,632,408
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33

(b)

34

(@)

102

Financial information of the company
(continued)

33 AQXRNMBER (&)

Details of changes in the company’s individual (b) FARAQFRENEAESKEMT :
components of reserves during the year:
Share Share  Accumulated
premium option reserve losses Total
R4 EE BRERE Y | a5t
HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$#TT HK$%ETT
At 1 April 2016 RZZE—~ENA—H 20,487,125 1,029,300 (24,617,597) (3,101,172)
Loss and total comprehensive FANBEREZES HEAR
expense for the year - - (966,273) (966,273)
Equity-settled share-based payments PRt & AR 19 A RN 7R
(note 26(b)) (BtsE26(b)) - 692,153 - 692,153
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)(ii)) BB (BiEE27(a)ii) (247,380) - - (247,380)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 RZT—tF=R=+—H
k=E—t+FMA—H 20,239,745 1,721,453 (25,583,870) (3,622,672)
Loss and total comprehensive FREENEES LESE
expense for the year - - (94,818) (94,818)
Equity-settled share-based payments MR 4t E AR 19 B AR 3R
(note 26(b)) (GEZI)) = 347,847 = 347,847
Repurchase of shares (note 27(a)ii)) EEERG (HFEE27()i0) = - - -
At 31 March 2018 R-T—\#=A=1—H 20,239,745 2,069,300  (25678,688)  (3,369,643)

Accounting estimates and judgements

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

Revenue and profit recognition

The group estimates the percentage of completion of the service
contracts by reference to the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date to the estimated total costs
for the contracts. When the final cost incurred by the group
is different from the amounts that were initially budgeted,
such differences will impact the revenue and the profit or loss
recognised in the period in which such determination is made.
Budgeted costs of each project will be reviewed periodically and
revised accordingly where significant variances are noted during
the revision.

34 gEEHfAETRAE

ERAAEEN ST ERER AR BEE
SFL T OIEET kA - RAAJEEHEERAE
IREEFLKIBEHE -

(a) Wz RIEFHER

AEESEEGFAMEENSNRAERESH
XA BRI L B EHIRIE A MR B DL © W%
REBPTELNREKALRABERNFETR -
FHEZRSFEBEHRAERRNERBBRARE
o B8 B MIRE A K E BB R AW ME AT B
HREBAREE) - ASERER] -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of a
similar nature and function.

Impairment on receivables

The policy for impairment on receivables of the group is based
on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis of accounts
and on management’s judgement. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past
collection history of each customer. If the financial conditions
of customers of the group were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment adjustments may be required.

Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
the write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a recognition or
reversal takes place. While the current operations indicate that the
unused tax losses cannot be utilised in the future, any changes
in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can affect the
recoverability of this unrecognised deferred tax asset.
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B SRR MR

Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2018 and which have not been adopted in the
consolidated financial statements.

These include the following which may be relevant to the group:

35

"2 N\F=ZRA=+—HBLFE (RETIIE)

BEZ-FT-/\F=A=t+—-HL
FECEMERERNERT -
EARZRENEESE

BENSHEUMBHRRTEZR  BESHMAE
EMMZIAER] - LA RRE EREE—FT—
NE=ZA=F+—HLEFENRER - BIRRES
BT HRERERA

VAT BRI RE B AN SR [ B RO X

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
ETHBRHH 2%
RIS HEER

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

BAMBRSEAESRME] - ERIA

BEMBIMERERE 1557 - RETF AN

1 January 2018
—Z-\5—-H—-H
1 January 2018
—T-\¥—HA—H

Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-based payment:
Classification and measurement of share-based
payment transactions

HK (IFRIC) — Int 22, Foreign currency transactions
and advance consideration

HKFRS 16, Leases

HK (IFRCI) - Int 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
contribution of assets between as investor

and its associate or joint venture

EAUBHEEAE2R0NEHT
B AEREE R 52 HERHE

&8 (BRMBERERBEE®) REH25% -
HERZREBNRE
ERMBHREEFE 165 - HE

B (ARG HRERERES) 2BE23% -
PSRRI M EE
BRMBHEEE105 R
BAEGHERIE28RMER] —
REZFEEBENEHK
RELEZANEELENTE

1 January 2018
—2—/\—A—H

1 January 2018
—F—\F-A-H
1 January 2019
—Z-N5—-HA-H
1 January 2019
“Z-N5—HA-H
To be determined

FEE

BRIA LS RIS ER BB M B ME LT 1655 - A

Except for the adoption of HKFRS 16 mentioned below, the group
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs and interpretations will have no material financial
impacts on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

SBIFEMAE R BRMR - RN FER] - LRI R
BT EHRaMBRREREAMBHE -
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35 Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018 (continued)

J HKFRS 9

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements

for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the

group are:

all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets, and that
have contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”).
All other financial assets are measured at their
fair value at subsequent accounting periods. In
addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not
held for trading) in other comprehensive income,
with only dividend income generally recognised in
profit or loss.

in relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model,
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under
HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires
an entity to account for expected credit losses and
changes in those expected credit losses at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred
before credit losses are recognised.
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Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018 (continued)

° HKFRS 9 (continued)

The group has reviewed its financial assets and liabilities
and is expecting the following impact from the adoption
of the new standard on 1 January 2018:

Equity investments currently measured at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL) which will continue to be
measured on the same basis under HKFRS 9.

There will be no material financial impact on the group’s
accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements
only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are
designated at fair value through profit or loss and the
group does not have any such liabilities.

The new impairment model requires the recognition of
impairment provisions based on expected credit losses
("ECL") rather than only incurred credit losses as is the
case under HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets classified
at amortised cost, debt instruments measured at FVTOCI,
contract assets under HKFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts
with customers’, lease receivables, loan commitments
and certain financial guarantee contracts. Based on the
management assessments undertaken to date, the group
does not expect any material financial impacts on the
change of the loss allowance for the group’s trade debtors
and other debt investments held at amortised cost.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure
requirements and changes in presentation. These are
expected to change the nature and extent of the group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments particularly in
the year of the adoption of the new standard.

35 BEE=-FT-/N\F=A=+—HL
FECEMERERMNIEET -
ZARZRENEESE (&)

o EBMBMEEREIR (B)

ARBEENASBAERA EL RPN
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EERARREERADENEREE %
AFEFAEMEERENEBETR &
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Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018 (continued)

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for
entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the
current revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related

interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, HKFRS
15 introduces a model that applies to contracts with
customers, featuring a contract-based five-step approach
to determine whether, how much and when revenue is

recognised. The five steps are as follows:

i) Identify the contract(s) with a customer;

ii) Identify the performance obligations in the
contract;

iii) Determine the transaction price;

iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance

obligations in the contract; and

V) Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and
guantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to understand the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows

arising from contracts with customers.
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35 Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018 (continued)

108

HKFRS 15 (continued)

The group anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in
the future may result in more disclosures, however, they do
not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have
a material financial impacts on the timing and amounts of

revenue recognised in the respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede
HKAS 17 “Leases”and related interpretations, introduces
a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term
of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is
of low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a lessee is
required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing
its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease
liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.
Accordingly, a lessee should recognise depreciation of the
right-of-use asset and adjust interest and lease payments
on the lease liability, and to classify cash repayments of
the lease liability into a principal portion and an interest
portion and presents them in the consolidated statement
of cash flows. In addition, the right-of-use asset and the
lease liability are initially measured on a present value basis.
The measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments
and also includes payments to be made in optional periods
if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to
extend the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the
lease. This accounting treatment is significantly different
from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as
operating leases under the predecessor standard, HKAS
17. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 16.
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35 Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2018 (continued)

o HKFRS 16 (Continued)

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in
HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account
for those two types of leases differently.

As at 31 March 2018, the group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of approximately
HK$2,083,680 as disclosed in note 29. A preliminary
assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet the
definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the group
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability in respect of all these leases unless they qualify
for low value or short-term leases upon the application of
HKFRS 16.

The application of new HKFRSs and requirements may result in

changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as discussed
above.
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Five Year Summary
hFHRE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (JABTTHIME)

2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14
ZE+tE-N\E —T-RE+tF —Z-HEF —_ZT-NE-HF —T-Z=2—MNF
HKS# T HK$ AT HK$# T HK$# T HK$#TT
Results ES
Revenue Yras 25,435,931 22,348,653 24,169,306 29,395,206 22,902,210
Profit from operations R 1,302,715 382,539 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026
Profit before taxation BRAR A 1,302,715 382,539 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026
Income tax credit FEEER 19,139 = - - =
Profit for the year attributable to AR RIEE AER
owners of the company JE(LF A F 1,321,854 382,539 329,315 3,243,839 2,070,026
Assets and liabilities BEREE
Non-current assets EREBEE 199,680 488,312 125,113 202,314 291,201
Net current assets mBEEFE 14,612,976 12,654,748 12,217,670 13,315,012 11,838,380
Net assets BEFE 14,812,656 13,143,060 12,342,783 13,517,326 12,129,581
Earnings per share BREF
Basic (HK cents) EAR () 0.14 0.04 0.04 0.35 0.22
Diluted (HK cents) &5 (L) 0.14 0.04 0.04 035 0.22
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